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FOREWORD

his is a study of selected key documents, hitherto unpublished, pertaining to

the history of the Malayan Communist Party (MCP) from its origins up to

1945. These documents are found mainly in recently opened US and British

government confidential and secret papers. This study also includes an
analysis of an MCP pamphlet originally published in Chinese in 1946 under the title
Nan dao zhi chun (Spring in the southern islands), which contains an account of the
party's prewar history. Its contents have been translated and compared with those of
the selected official documents. The aim has been to chart more comprehensively the
course of the MCP's prewar history and its early links with the Indonesian Commu-
nist Party (PKI), the Chinese Communist Party (CCP), and the Comintern. This study
has paid special attention to the prewar activities of the Indonesian Communists in
Malaya and their role in spreading communism among Malays to balance the unduly
great emphasis given by scholars in the past to CCP agents and the influence of
China in the 1920s and 1930s.

The documents presented here have been collected during several years of re-
search. I have long felt that their publication would be useful to other scholars, and
hope that with the end of the MCP's armed struggle, announced on November 30,
1989, and its intention to return to constitutional struggle, more party documents will
become available to scholars.

I would like to thank the Cornell Southeast Asia Program for agreeing to publish
this monograph and also the two anonymous readers for their valuable comments
and suggestions to improve my manuscript. I also wish to thank Chen Jianhong, a
tutor at the history department, Universiti Sains Malaysia, for translating Nan dao zhi
chun. My colleague, Dr. Leong Yee Fong, made available to me some of the Malayan
Bulletin of Political Intelligence (MBPI) documents in his possession while Dr. Yeo
Kim Wah of the History Department, National University of Singapore provided
information regarding the early origins of the Malayan Security Service. John Coe of
Darwin, Australia very kindly sent me a copy of Wu Tien-wang's important 1947
unpublished manuscript, "The Communist Party of Malaya," which was recently
recovered in London. Although it arrived in 1991 when my revised manuscript was
already at Cornell, nonetheless it required me to undertake a further assessment of
the MCP's internal split in 1936 and other aspects of its prewar history. Miss Loh Kim
Foong did the excellent work of typing the original manuscript.

Cheah Boon Kheng

Universiti Sains Malaysia/Yale ~University
Penang/New Haven

October 1989/November 1991
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INTRODUCTION

THE SOURCES FOR THE STUDY OF THEMALAYAN COMMUNIST PARTY (MCP)

Owing to the clandestine nature of the Malayan Communist movement during much
of the colonial period, informationabout its activities have come largely from official
sources. MCP documents have become scarce since 1948 when the MCP launched an
armed revolt and became a proscribed organization again. Because MCP documents
were considered illegal, very few people possessed them and even those who did
were not likely to admit it. Fortunately, several MCP publications and documents
have been found in overseas holding centers. One of these, Nan dao zhi chun, the
MCP's history of its prewar policies, can be used to confirm much of the declassified
secret and confidential official evidence on Communist activities in Malaya before
1941.

Apparently, some Malaysian government records on Communist activities that
cannot easily be consulted by researchers are kept in the Special Branch archives in
the Malaysian Police Headquarters. Over the years, only a handful of scholars have
been allowed to use these papers, among them Charles McLane,' Anthony Short,* J.
H. Brimmell,? Rene Onraet,” Yap Hong Kuan,’ and recently, Mahmud Embong.® Not

'Charles B. McLane, Soviet Strategies in Southeast Asia (Princeton, N. J.: Princton University
Press, 1966). Professor McLane was able to see the papers through an arrangement with the
Ministry of External Affairs, Government of Malaya, made by Anthony Short, a lecturer at the
History Department, University of Malaya, who had been commissioned to write the official
history of the Malayan Emergency from 1946 to 1960.

2Anthony Short, The Communist Insurrection in Malaya, 1948-1960 (London: Frederik Muller,
1975). The manuscript was submitted by Short to the Malaysian government but the govern-

ment refused to publish it. Undaunted, Short had it published. The story of publication is told
by Short himself. Cf. Preface, ibid.

*J. H. Brimmell, 4 Short History of the Malayan Communist Party (Singapore: Donald Moore,
1956); idem, Communism in Southeast Asia (London: Oxford University Press, 1959). Brimmel
served in the British Embassy in Moscow from 1946to 1948, with the Foreign Office in London

from 1948 to 1951, and with the Britishcommissioner general's office in Singapore from 1951 to
1953.

*Rene H. Onraet, Singapore—A Police Background (London: Dorothy Crisp, 1947). Onraet was a
former inspector-general of police, Straits Settlements.

Yap Hong Kuan, "Perak under the Japanese, 1942-1945" (B.A.Hons. thesis, University of
Singapore, 1957). Yap's thesis is based on confidential and secret files of the Malayan Police,
Special Branch, which he was allowed to consult as a former member of the police force.
Because most of the information he used was still classified, the Special Branch requested the
university to prohibit publication of the thesis. The prohibition was lifted recently.

®Mahmud Embong, "Pertumbuhan dan Perkembangan Gerakan Komunis di Malaya, 1920-
1948" (M.A. thesis, History Department, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, 1985). He obtained
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all these scholars, however, have been allowed to reproduce documents found within
these papers. The exceptions were Yap Hong Kuan and Mahmud Embong, who were
allowed to reproduce several charts on the organizational structures of the MCP,
including those for 1925 and 1932. One of the important Special Branch papers
frequently cited by these scholars is the "Basic Paper on the Malayan Communist
Party,” bound in several volumes, which is believed to include information given by
police informers and Communist leaders during interrogations. Other writers, how-
ever, such as the journalist Harry Miller and the British Army officer Edgar
O'Ballance whose works will be cited later, although they had not seen such papers
had, nevertheless, been given police briefings on the historical background of Com-
munist activities in Malaya. Their writing contains much useful information not
found in scholarly works.

The earliest author to attempt a general history of the MCP was the mysterious
"Gene Z. Hanrahan,"7 while other writers, such as Virginia Thompson and Richard
Adloff,® pioneered brief preliminary studies of the Malayan Communist movement.
Hanrahan's work, however, is still the best concise standard account and for some
years of the MCP's prewar history remains the most important account. Hanrahan
studied several MCP documents, including its 1934 party constitution, which was
translated and included as one of the appendices in the book. He is also the first
writer to use the wartime Japanese Kempeitai's account of the MCP found in Tsu-
tsui's work entitled Nampo gunsei-ron (Military government in the southern regions),
published in Tokyo in 1944. Although in some areas the information in Hanrahan's
work is now out-of-date, it is still a useful reference. An intriguing question is how
Hanrahan gained access to those MCP documents. He does not mention the holding
centers where they are kept.

The police documents compiled within this monograph are (with one exception)
found in holding centers outside Malaysia. This must be stated because under recent
amendments to the Official Secrets Act (OSA) of Malaysia, following opposition dis-
closures in Parliament of naval arms purchases, the Malaysian government has tight-
ened loopholes to prevent leakage of secret and confidential government documents
to the public, and violators are liable to prosecution in a court of law. Therefore, the

permission to look at the Special Branch papers because his late father was an assistant minis-
ter in the federal government of Malaysia. While his thesis tends to be general and descriptive
on the prewar period, it has, however, more recent information on the MCP's postwar history.

’Gene Z. Hanrahan, The Communist Struggle in Malaya (New York: Institute of Pacific Relations,
1954); reissued, by arrangement with the Publication Centre, University of British Columbia,
by the University of Malaya Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1971. It is believed that "Gene Z. Hanrahan"
is the pseudonym of a research assistant or a research organization. According to his
bibliographical card index at Yale University's Stirling library, "Gene Z. Hanrahan" is said to
have authored the following works: An Exploratory Critical Bibliography on the Chinese Red Army,
1927-1945 (New York: Columbia University Press, 1952); Ernest Hemingway 1896-1961: The Wild
Years (New York: Dell Publishing, 1962); Documents on the Mexican Revolution (Chapel Hill,
N.C.: Documentary Publications, 1972); Secret History of the Oil Companies in the Middle East
(Salisbury, N.C.: Documentary Publications, 1979); and Marighella, Carlos, Manual of the Urban
Guerrilla, introduction, new translation and a bibliography by Gene Hanrahan (Chapel Hill,
N.C.: Documentary Publications, 1985). When the University of Malaya Press decided to
reprint The Communist Struggle in Malaya in 1971, they experienced great difficulties in contact-
ing the "author," but finally signed a contract with a third party. Information was given to this
writer by Beda Lim, retired chief librarian, University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur.

$Virginia Thompson and Richard Adloff, The Lefi Wing in Southeast Asia (New York: William
Sloane, 1950).
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National Archives of Malaysia has closed all secret and confidential records going
back into the colonial period, reversing its previous twenty-five-year ruling on open-
ing government records and retarding the work of researchers. Appeals to the
National Archives for a more liberal interpretation of the OSA have not yet been suc-
cessful.

The importance of the official sources has, therefore, not diminished. In fact, over
the years the official sources have influenced a vast number of writers in the field.
Those who have been most impressed by these sources consider that they constitute a
success story of the Special Branch in its fight against communism. It is a winner's
story. The story of the losers, consequently, has not been heard or written. Such a
history would have to be oral and based on the reflections and accounts of many of
those who were involved at various levels of the Communist movement because
written sources of such material are difficult to come by.

PROBLEMS IN THEUSE OFPOLICE SOURCES

Because access to the police archives is restricted, it has not been possible for this
writer to obtain more information on how the police went about their tasks as histo-
rians of the Communist movement. "The most prolific and zealous historians of
popular protest have been the police, spies and informers in the government's ser-
vice, magistrates and army commanders," writes Richard Cobb, who has brilliantly
reconstructed a history of popular protest during the French Revolution, 1789-1820,
based on the records of the Paris prefecture of police.9 Cobb uses police sources to tell
his story, and yet at every stage he comments on the sources he uses. In fact, his first
chapter is an evaluation of the police sources with subheads as follows: "Police
assumptions on the habits of violence and disorder," "Men to look for," "The in-
former and his trade," "The gendarme as witness," and "The police and credibility."
It has not been possible to follow what Cobb has done. The French records are richer,
more varied and plentiful, whereas most of those of the Malayan Special Branch are
still closed. In most cases, it is impossible to know what were the views of the top
Special Branchand police personnel, what they discussed at their meetings, or how
they carried out their strategies. This information could sometimes only be inferred
from their raids and arrests. Nor is it possible to know what transpired during police
interrogations of those arrested, what instructions were issued to police agents and
informers, or who were the people chosen as agents and informers. There is also no
way to confirm whether those who were arrested or banished were really
"Communists."

Special Branch "open" reports of this period (written for higher political authori-
ties) tend to present Communist activists as "faceless" enemy targets or as statistical
digits. Consequently, such documents reveal few personal details about Communist
leaders and activists. However, this does not mean that no such details are available;
there are personal dossiers of individuals who appear under police surveillance, and
some scholars have been known to stumble upon such details in one or two rare
"open" files, usually on banishment proceedings, or, like Anthony Short and
McLane, they are given permission to look at such files. The problem is compounded
by the MCP's highly secretive and conspiratorial nature, strictly enforced for security,
which sometimes bordered on the paranoid and was counterproductive. Party state-

°Richard Cobb, The Police and the People: French Popular Protest, 1789-1820 (Oxford: Clarendon
Press, 1970), p. 4.
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ments scarcely mentioned names of individuals. They deliberately concealed the
names of their leaders and agents from the public view in the belief that this would
prevent police from identifying these individuals. Before long, however, the Special
Branch found out who they were. This Communist strategy, therefore, had its weak-
nesses because it meant the public was more likely not to know it existed and thus
would forget the party because the public had no remembrance or image of its
leadership and, in most cases, no knowledge of its policies or activities. It thereby
presented the colonial government and police with opportunities to create the
propaganda image of the Communists that they wanted the public to have—usually
an image of intimidation, terror, and violence.

Given the shortage of MCP documents, students of Malayan communism have,
therefore, relied heavily on the colonial government and police sources, which some-
times are the only ones available on the underground Communist movement. At this
moment, it is impossible to write or reconstruct the history of the MCP without using
such sources. Many gaps in the MCP's history still remain unfilled for lack of either
or both MCP and police sources. Consequently, when certain MCP or unpublished
police sources become available, they create excitement among interested scholars
who expect these "new" sources to clear up problems for those studying the move-
ment. Therefore, those who are fortunate to have had access to such sources are often
regarded as having had an advantage over others. Perhaps now, with the end of the
MCP's armed struggle, government restrictions may relax, and MCP documents may
become more easily available, so that a complete history of the Communist move-
ment can be written.

In the introductions to parts 1 and 2, I have attempted to provide some details
about how the surveillance apparatus evolved in Malaya, who led the machine, and
how intelligence was exchanged among the European colonial authorities in South-
east Asia. The most frequent sources of intelligence have, of course, been agents and
spies, but the British police in Malaya had also relied on arrests of suspected Com-
munists, on raids of their premises, and on postal censorship to obtain information.
The seized documents have shed valuable light on the vast network of Communist
operations throughout Malaya and provided details of persons, groups, and satellite
organizations involved. While not denying their importance, a reseacher, however,
should be cautious and treat with some suspicion all such police reports. Police spies
have been known to fabricate their information, and arrested suspects do not reveal
the truth about all they know.

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND OFTHE MCP, 1924-1945

THE EARLY INDONESIAN INFLUENCE

As demonstrated in the documents in part 1, Communist activities in Malaya became
increasingly evident around 1922, when Bolshevik propaganda coming in from
China was intercepted by the British police. It would, however, be incorrect to
assume that prior to this time Communist activities were nonexistent in Malaya. In
1922 the British authorities in Malayaand London, viewing Bolshevism and national-
ism as growing threats to British imperialistic interests in Southeast Asia and the Far
East, agreed to set up the Malayan Security Service (MSS). This agency was given the
primary task of maintaining constant surveillance of any political activities in Malaya
that could threaten British interests and advising the authorities accordingly of
appropriate measures to restrict or control such activities.
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that could threaten British interests and advising the authorities accordingly of
appropriate measures to restrict or control such activities.

"It is generally agreed/’ wrote Jeanne S. Mintz in 1959, "that Marxism was for-
mally first introduced into Indonesia in 1914, with the founding there of the Indies
Social Democratic Association (ISDV)."10 This date—1914—is important because it
establishes that the founding of the ISDV took firm root in Southeast Asia even
before the establishment of the first Marxistbody in China, (LiTa-chao's Society for
the Study of Marxist Theory in 1918)." The ISDV was founded by the Dutch Marxist,
Henk or Hendriclus Sneevliet.'” The ISDV became the Perserikataan Komunist di
India (PKI), or Indonesian Communist Party on May 23,1920. On the other hand, the
Chinese Communist Party (CCP) was not founded until May 1921 and the Indian
Communist Party not until December 1925."

These events were crucial in determining the early development of Communist
operations in Malaya. One sees in the Malayan Bulletin of Political Intelligence
(MBPI) reports in part 1that between 1921 and 1922 Dutch and Indonesian Commu-
nist agents Sneevliet, Darsono, and others were frequent travelers to Malaya, ran a
secret office in Singapore, and on several occasions were interviewed by British intel-
ligence officials. These reports are confirmed by other sources used by Ruth McVey,
who gives accounts of Darsono, Baars, and Sneevliet visiting Singapore in May 1921
en route to Shanghai. Samoen, another prominent Indonesian Communist, passed
through Singapore on his way to Moscow via Shanghai. Sneevliet was again in
Singapore in May 1922 on his way to Holland."

The MBPI reports appear to be very informativeabout these Indonesian agents.
The CCP agents had not yet started traveling to Malaya, the CCP having been for-
mally established only in May 1921. No details of CCP agents for the early 1920s
were released in these MBPI reports, which indicates that they were not yet active;
otherwise, such information would have been in intelligence reports to the Chinese
Affairs Department. The high point of the Indonesian Communist operations in Sin-
gapore may be said to have occurred in December 1926 when the British police
arrested Alimin and Moeso. This episode formed the subject of a long banishment
inquiry and led to discussion with both the Colonial Office and the Foreign Office in
London on whether there should be a law to extradite "political offenders" from the
Malayan territories (see Rene H. Onraet's "Report Showing the Connection Between
Chinese and Non-Chinese Concerned in Communist Activities in Malaya," Docu-
ment No. 12in part 1).

Jeanne S.Mintz, "Marxism in Indonesia/' in Marxism in Southeast Asia, ed. Frank N. Trager,
(Stanford, Calif.: Stanford University Press, 1959), pp. 171-239.

"'See Maurice Meisner, Li Ta-chao and the Origins of Chinese Marxism (New York: Atheneum,
1977).

"For an interesting biographical account of Sneevliet, see Michael Williams, "Sneevliet and the
Birth of Asian Communism," New Left Review (123) (September-October 1980): 82-90. See also
the brief background on Sneevliet, below p. 48,n.12.

BSee John Patrick Haithcox, Communism and Nationalism in India: M. N. Roy and Comintern
Policy, 1920-1939 (Princeton, N.J.: Princeton University Press, 1971), pp. 44-46.

“For details of these early activities in Singapore,see Ruth T. McVey, The Rise of Indonesian
Communism (Ithaca, N.Y.: Cornell University Press, 1965), p. 129. See also Khoo Kay Kim, The

Beginnings of Political Extremism in Malaya, 1915-1935," (Ph.D. diss., University of Malaya,
1973), pp. 117-18.
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PKI ACTIVITIES, 1924-1933

The Malayan Communist Party (MCP)did not emerge as a separate entity with its
own Central Committee until 1930, but the first steps in setting up a Communist
movement in Malaya were taken by Indonesian and Chinese Communists after a
visit to Singapore in 1924 by the Indonesian Communist leader, Alimin."”> We have
little evidence from MCP sources about its early origins, especially about the people
involved. For such details, the official documents have been the major sources of
information. In early 1925, another Indonesian, the Moscow-based Communist
International (Comintern) representative for Southeast Asia, Tan Malaka,16
persuaded Chinese Communist Party (CCP) leaders in Canton to undertake the
infiltration of leftwing groups in Singapore. A CCP representative, reportedly named
Fu Ta-ching, was among the agents sent to Malaya to contact leftwing Chinese and
Javanese. But, except among the Hailam (natives from the Chinese island of Hainan),
the CCP members were less successful than their rivalsin Sun Yat-sen's Kuomintang
(Nationalist Party) in forming a Malayan branch.'” Soon, CCP members began arriv-
ing to join the Malayan Kuomintang (KMT) branch and to form the nucleus of a
Communist group known as the Malayan Revolutionary Committee.'® They were

>This information, reportedly given by the Indonesian Communist Alimin, is quoted in
Malaysian government records. See the Malaysian government White Paper, Communismin
Malaysia and Singapore (Kuala Lumpur: Government Printers, 1971), p. 5 (Malaya became
Malaysia in 1963). Hanrahan, Communist Struggle, p. 28, cites wartime Japanese military intelli-
gence documents to the effect that Alimin, stopping in Singapore in early 1924 briefly while en
route to the Pan-Pacific Labor Conference in Canton to be held in June of that year, carried out
limited recruiting among the more radical elements there. McVey, Rise of Indonesian
Communism, p. 449, n. 142, however, has some interesting comments on Alimin's reported role:
"If Alimindid take up contacts with Malayan radicals in 1924, it seems more likely that he did
it on his earlier visit (where he reportedly met with Tan Malaka, who gave him the theses pre-
sented at the June 1924 PKI Congress) than on the way to Canton: what we know of his
schedule indicates that he spent very little time in Singapore on the second journey. Since it
also appears that Tan Malaka spent some time in Singapore before the Canton conference and
that he found Canton inconvenient as a base, we may well wonder whether he and not Alimin
initiated the idea for activity in Malaya. Neither Malaka nor Alimin mention playing such a
role in their autobiographies, and I have found no corroborating evidence for it, although
(given the patchy and unreliable nature of the available reports) this is not to say something of
the sort might not have taken place." Seealso McLane, Soviet Strategies, pp. 132-33 and the
Malayan Security Service document, "Malay and Indonesian Communists," in pt. 5.

1"One of the most colorful of the PKI leaders, Tan Malaka stirred up consternation and even
admiration and respect amongst the intelligence authorities of the European colonial powers in
the international espionage of which he was the main character. His elusive role was cast very
much like that of a Scarlet Pimpernel. Born in Suliki, West Sumatra, probably in 1897, his real
name was Sutan Ibrahim gelar Datuk Tan Malaka. Trained as a schoolteacher, he left to further
his education in Holland, where he became attracted to Marxism. On his return to Indonesia
he joined the PKI and became its chairman in 1921.In March 1922he was exiled from
Indonesia and left for Holland. In the middle of 1923 he was appointed the Comintern
representative in Southeast Asia. See Benedict R.O'G. Anderson, Java in a Time of Revolution
(Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 1972), pp. 269-72; see also Noriaki Oshikawa, "Patjar Merah
Indonesia and Tan Malaka: A Popular Novel and a Revolutionary Legend," in Reading Southeast
Asia, ed. Takashi Shiraishi (Ithaca: Cornell University Southeast Asia Program Translation
Series, 1990), pp. 9-40.

"White Paper, Communism. See also Hanrahan, Communist Struggle (reprint, Kuala Lumpur,
1971), p. 30.

"®Chihiro Tsutsui, Nampo gunsei-ron (Military administrationin the southern regions), Tokyo,
1944, p. 335. Tsutsui's account is based on MCP documents captured by the Kempeitai
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able to do so under the Soviet-Kuomintang agreement signed in 1923 by which CCP
members could become KMT members. CCP members and their local Communist
group continued to be found in the Malayan KMTuntil the KMT China broke with
the CCP in 1927. The CCP members also paid attention to the organization of
Malayan labor and in 1925 formed the South Seas General Labour Union (SSGLU) to
cater to transport and dock workers.

In November, 1925, Tan Malaka, in a message intercepted by the British police,
was reported to have painted a dismal picture of local Malay attitudes toward com-
munism. He considered it more profitable to work among the resident Chinese and
Indian populations (see MBPI document entitled "Tan Malaka on Communism,"
document no. 9in pt. 1):

So far not the slightest advantage is to be seen from the work of our [propa-
gandists] at Singapore or at Penang. Youmay say that they are quite incapable,
but in criticising it must not be forgottenthat the [Malay] inhabitants there, who
form only a minority, are all conservative in their manner of living and thinking,
and are petty bourgeois. ... [Inthe] FM.S. .. . impressions .. . obtained every-
where did not differ from those gained in Singapore and Penang. The section of
the people which understands economy and politics are the Chinese In brief,
if one looks for a moyement in the F.M.S., it is not to be sought on the side of the
Malays. It will certainly come from the Chinese and Klings [Indians], whatever
sort of movement it may be."”

Subsequently, Tan Malaka appears to have handed over the organization of the
Malayan Communist movement to CCP members while he continued his efforts at
recruitment among Indonesians, especially Sumatrans, in the hope that they could in
turn influence the local Malays. In August 1926, he was reported to have attended
meetings at Batu Pahat, Johor, and Singapore. The Singapore meeting was among
Sumatrans aimed at establishing an "Indonesian Trading Association," which was to
be based in Penang and was to have branches in Johor. Muar was another place
where Alimin and Moeso and their followers had established places of refuge.”
Muar, Batu Pahat, and other towns on the west coast of Johor had a high proportion
of Indonesians among their populations. In 1926 and 1927, several Indonesian
refugee Communists came to Singapore following the PKI's abortive uprisings to
overthrow the Dutch regime in Java and Sumatra. Among early Indonesian arrivals
were Alimin and Moeso and later Winanta, Soebakat, and Jamaluddin Tamin. Most
of the Indonesians stayed for a short while in Malaya, carrying out anti-Dutch activi-
ties as well as recruiting local Indonesians and Malays, before moving to another

[Japanese military police] as well as on former British police records taken over by the
Kempeitai during the Japanese occupation of Malaya, 1941-1945. See also Hanrahan, Communist
Struggle, p. 29.

Quoted from Tan Malaka'sletter to Boedisoejitro in Jawa, November 6,1925, intercepted by
British police. Enclosure in Malayan Bulletin of Political Intelligence (hereafter cited as MBPI),
October 1926, no. 44 in CO 273/535. "F.M.S." refers to the Federated Malay States of Negeri
Sembilan, Selangor, Perak, and Pahang, formed in 1896.See also Onraet, Singapore, p. 110, and
Anthony Short, "Communism and the Emergency," in Malaysia, ed. Wang Gungwu (New
York: Praeger, 1964), p. 150, for summarized versions of Tan Malaka'sviews.

McVey, Rise of Indonesian Communism, pp. 330-31,482;and Khoo, "Beginnings of Political
Extremism," n., p. 114.
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destination. The available MBPI evidence shows that when the Indonesian Commu-
nists visited Malaya they were usually assisted by Indonesian residents in the coun-
try who were merchants and pilgrim brokers.?' By the end of 1926, however, most of
these leading Indonesians had been arrested. The most well-known case was thatof
Alimin and Moeso (See MBPI document, February 1927, document no. 10, pt. 1).
They were later ordered to leave Malayan territory for a destination of their own
choosing. They all elected to go to China.”

Undeterred by these actions, efforts were renewed by the Indonesian cadres to
recruit Malays into the Communist movement between 1928 and 1930. At the time,
these activities had alarmed the British police authorities. MBPI reports, in fact, show
that in 1928 three Malay cadres had been recruited in Singapore, one of whom turned
out later to be Alimin.” In the same year, the Malay section of the Anti-Imperialist
League was formed by Alimin and Moeso, and Communist propaganda in roman-
ized Malay and Jawi issued. A later (1948) Malayan Security Service document,
"Malay and Indonesian Communists" (see pt. 5) reveals that in June 1928 they
attempted to get in touch with the young intelligentsia of the Netherlands East Indies
(NEI) and Malaya studying at the Al-Azhar University in Cairo, and apparently had
some success. Two newspapers, Pilihan Timor and Seruan Azhar, issued by the stu-
dents, were read in Malaya.24 Alimin and two Malays and some CCP members
attended the annual meeting of the Pan-Pacific Trade Union Secretariat in Shanghai
in June 1929. Toward the end of the year, a series of pamphlets in Malay, purporting
to be issued by the Malay Seamen's Union, were printed and distributed with the
help of the local Communist party. Throughout the first quarter of 1930, it was re-
ported that non-Chinese branches of the Communist party were beginning to emerge
in many places; in the Batu Pahat and Muar areas "most serious advances were
made. > Police investigations in 1930 led to the arrest of six leading Communists of

*'The pilgrim business for Indonesians in Singapore was run by a group of immigrant
Indonesian merchants (dealing mainly in songkok [caps] and batik textiles)in Arab Street, and
school teachers and religious teachers in Onan Road and North Bridge Road. The Indonesian
Communists used them as contacts and even boarded with them, but the merchants were not
necessarily Communists. See MBPI report No. 7, pt. 1.

*Onraet, Singapore, p. 110. The Indonesians were not detained longer than police interroga-
tions required because, as Onraet points out, "Existing agreements ruled that political prison-
ers could not be extradited." Onraet, who rose to become inspector-general of police, Straits
Settlements, had conducted the arrests and interrogations as director of the Criminal
Intelligence Department. (Seealso his "Report showing the Connection between Chinese and
non-Chinese concerned in Communist Activitiesin Malaya," April 1,1930, pt. 1).Onraet, who
interrogated Aliminand Moeso, seems to have a warm recollection of Alimin:

One of them, after his release at Singapore and arrival in China, sent me the first copy of a
magazine issued by the Pan-Pacific Trade Union Secretariat. We did not know very much
about this organisation at the time. It turned out to be connected with the Far Eastern
Bureau. Mas Alimin, I believe, sent the pamphlet to put me one jump ahead of the Dutch
C.ID. He told me they were very rude! Personal hatred as well as ideological antagonism
was the result. I never found bluster paid with such men—Alimin, a polished linguist and
experienced traveller, reacted best to decent treatment.

BMBPI, no. 48 for February-April 1927in CO 273/535. Onraet later identified one of the Malay

cadres as Alimin.See his "Report showing the Connection Between Chinese and non-Chinese

Concerned in Communist Activities in Malaya," April 1,1930 (document no. 12,pt. 1).

**For more details on this student group, see W.R.Roff, "Indonesian and Malay Students in
Cairo in the 1920s," Indonesia 9 (April 1970): 73-88.

ADocument no. 12, pt. 1.
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Sumatran and Javanese origins. The arrests curbed but did not end the efforts to
spread communism among Malays, especially because the Comintern's proposed re-
organization of the Communist party in 1930 was intended to lead to a stepping up
of such efforts.

The Malayan Security Service document, produced in 1948 (see pt. 5), however, is
an important source containing much hitherto unknown information on Malay and
Indonesian Communist activities in Malaya for the subsequent period, 1930-1936. It
helps fill in many gaps in the history of the Malayan Communist movement. In this
section, I will deal with the evidence up to 1933. Between October 1930 and February
1931 there was increased mention of Malay participation in Communist activities, a
reported increase in the amount of propaganda in Malay, and confirmed cases of
Malays being willing to go to Singapore (MCPheadquarters) for training. The MCP's
aim was to use these Malay comrades in agricultural districts, such as Rembau and
Kuala Pilah, to form peasants' and workers' cells. Thereafter, Kuala Pilah and other
areas in the state of Negri Sembilan reportedly began to feature prominently as
Malay Communist centers ofactivity.

In September 1931, it was established that the five members of the Kuala Pilah
provisional committee of the MCP were all Malays. The General Labor Union in
Negri Sembilan claimed an increasing number of Malay members and announced the
publication of a news-sheet in Malay and Javanese called Soeara Boeroeh Malaya
(Voice of Malayan Labor). At the same time, a cyclo-styled manifesto in Malay was
issued in Trengganu. Police raids carried out on Malay Communist centers in Kuala
Pilah revealed that the Malay membership of the General Labor Union had reached
between four and five hundred. In Lenggeng (also in Negri Sembilan) the Kaum
Muda, the Islamic reformist movement, was said to have been influenced by Com-
munists.?® The Malayan Security Service document [Part V] comments:

Although the Kaum Muda had been labelled "Communist" it was, in fact, a
movement in advance of orthodox Islam with many adherents in Sumatra, par-
ticularly among the Nationalist students whose activities frequently merged with
Communism. The suspicion therefore existed that wherever the Kaum Muda was
strong (Negri Sembilan and Malacca) there would be found a nucleus ready to
listen to the clandestine propaganda of Indonesian Nationalist or Communist
agents.

Between October 1931 and November 1932 three important discoveries were
made by the Special Branch concerning Indonesian Communist activities among
Malays:

1. An intercepted letter in October 1931 revealed that an attempt was being made
to set up an organization called the Dutch East Indies Bureau (DEIB), among
whose objectives were to reestablish the banned PKI, to find ways and means of
establishing good connections with the Far Eastern Bureau and the Pan-Pacific
Trade Union Secretariat, and to assist in all possible ways similar work by the
MCP in establishing communism among the Malays.

2%>For further details on the Kaum Muda in Malaya, see W.R.Roff, The Origins of Malay
Nationalism (Kuala Lumpur: University of Malaya Press, 1967).
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2. In May 1932, a movement for the formation of an All-Malay Communist Party
entirely independent of Chinese influence was reported. Information was re-
ceived that the Javanese Communist Bassa was initiating this movement from
Borneo and was in touch with Malays representing the states of Pahang, Selang-
or, Perak, Trengganu, and Singapore. However, the attempt subsequently
petered out.

3. The arrest of Jamaluddin Tamin, an associate of Tan Malaka,on September 13,
1932 led to the disclosure that Tan Malaka's organization, PARI, was also
attempting to recruit Malay members. Inquiries after his arrest led to the arrest of
Tan Malaka in Hong Kong. Tan Malaka was banished from Hong Kong and
Jamaluddin Tamin from Singapore.

These developments made the Special Branch conclude that "those political agi-
tators of the Netherlands East Indies . . ., having fled their country after the 1926
rising, were still available to carry out the racial movement in the South Seas which
was the declared policy of the Third International." Regarding the failure to form the
"Malay" Commmunist party, the Malayan Security Service document gives the fol-
lowing reasons: "Sympathisers were generally without any directing influence, other
than that of the Chinese heads of local divisional committees. Lack of funds, the diffi-
culties of language, contempt for the Chinese and general apathy of local Malays for
any movement led by foreigners, were factors responsible for the lack of progress."*’

In September 1933 an instructional letter from the Central Committee of the
China Communist Party to Malaya "Central" was received [see the MSS document,
pt. 5]. It advised: "Organizations to oppose Imperialism are to be widely started in
the names of Anti-Imperialist League, the League of the Independence of the Malay
Race, the League to support the Chinese Revolution, etc. At present other races can
also be organized, but there must be a central organ to direct the entire activities. In
this organ should be the representatives of variousraces, and the party must assume
the role of leaders."

Throughout the year 1933 the Special Branchreported no activity by Malay and
Indonesian Communists, but arevival was noticed in 1934. In February 1934 the Spe-
cial Branch recorded that the efforts of Malayan "Central" to "graft upon the local
Malay population an enthusiasm for the communism of Moscow had not been suc-
cessful, but it was, nevertheless, borne in mind that a nucleus existed of renegade
Javanese and Sumatran revolutionaries in Malaya," and that it was the primary ob-
ject of these people to develop communism among the indigenous population. Lead-
ership was in the "hands of capable Muslims whose influence was along the lines of
religion and nationalism" (see the MSSdocument, pt. 5).

Of the two streams of Communist influence in Malaya, the Chinese and the
Indonesian, the Chinese appears to have had a more lasting effect. Despite Tan
Malaka's expectations of the Indians, there is little record of much Indian sympathy
for communism in Malaya, even though there was Indian involvement in labor dis-
putes in the 1930s.

" After World War II another unsuccessful attempt to form a Malay Communist party was
made in 1946by one of the IndonesianCommunistagents sighted by the Special Branch in the
1926-1936 period, Sutan Djenain. See Cheah Boon Kheng, The Masked Comrades: A Study of the
Communist United Front in Malaya (Singapore: Times Books International, 1979), p. 68.
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THE CCP INFLUENCE: 1925-1930

Before 1927, the KMT's activities in both China and Malaya had turned increasingly
anti-imperialist and anti-British. This orientation had led to the Malayan KMT being
declared illegal in 1925, which forced it underground. A leftwing committee
probably existed within the Malayan KMT. The MCP's official history Nan dao zhi
chun (see document, pt. 4), however, states that the MCP was born in 1925 as "an
overseas branch of the CCP"*® but does not state it was formed in the KMT. The
branch was said to have been "a very small organization" that had established secret
cells among Chinese shop assistants, workers in foreign concerns, and rubber
tappers. In 1926, CCP members established "the South Seas Branch Committee to
gradually expand its activities to all parts of the South Seas." It was clearly a provi-
sional committee for the "South Seas [Nanyang] Communist Party (SSCP)." In 1926,
CCP members formed the Communist Youth Leaguein Singapore and organized the
South Seas General Labor Union (SSGLU) to serve a wider area than Malaya alone.
According to official sources, although its central headquarters was based in
Singapore, the federation's jurisdictioncovered various Communist-dominated labor
organizations of Sumatra, Borneo, New Guinea, Celebes, Burma, Siam, and
Indochina as well. It affiliated with the Pan-Pacific Trade Union Secretariat, a
Comintern agency that was established in Shanghai in 1927.” The SSGLU was
allowed to operate freely in Malayaby the British authorities until 1928, when it was
outlawed for organizing anti-British demonstrations and strikes. A serious incident
had occurred in Singapore on March 12, 1927, the anniversary of the death of Sun
Yat-sen, when members of the Communist Youth League had clashed with police.
Communist demonstrators unsuccessfully attempted to storm a police station in

2°See also McLane, Soviet Strategies, p. 132. Hanrahan, Communist Struggle, p.30, called the

KMT committee the "Malayan Revolutionary Committee," but cites no source for this. He
states: "The Malayan Revolutionary Committee represented the more radical and pro-

Communist factions in the Malayan Overseas Branch of the Chinese Nationalist Party."
Hanrahan's influence has been considerable, as even some authorities have used the name he
has given to this committee. See Brimmel, Communism in South East Asia, p.93. However, there

is no official or MCP evidence to support it. Hanrahan's theory that this committee was formed
in the KMTis a plausible and ingenious one and could only have come from a clever reading
of Onraet's Book, Singapore: A Police Background, pp.108-109. After referring to the CCP and

two factions in the China KMT ("Kuo Min Tang Right," and "Kuo Min Tang Left") and their
rivalry among Chinese in Southeast Asia, Onraet states: "Still, as all of this was Kuo Min Tang
work [in Southeast Asia], and it was via the Left Wing elements of the Kuo Min Tang that
subversive organizations were first developed in Singapore...." Onraet (ibid., p.111) further
states: "From Left Wing Kuo Min Tang the movement filtered into a great many Chinese
schools and into every craft and trade...." Thus, at no time did Onraet state that a committee
was ever set up in the Malayan KMT.However, British intelligence did detect the existence of

what was known as a "Main School" Communist organization which infiltrated the Left KMT
in Malaya but whose work was eventually suspended in 1927 by the SSCP (seethe US State
Department paper found in Pt. 3 below). A MBPI report stated: "At the beginning of 1927 the
seizure of documents at the Pheng Man School at Kuala Lumpur made it clear there was a

definite group of agitators known as the 'Main School' (of which mention was made in last

month's Bulletin) whose object was to work through the Night Schools, Labour Unions and
sub-branches of the 'Left K.M.T/ to spread subversive propaganda through the Malayan

Archipelago and to aim at a large increase in the number of fellow students.” See document

enclosed in CO 273/535 MBPI No 40, May 1927.

*Onraet, Singapore, pp. 108-10; McLane, Soviet Strategies, p. 133.
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Kreta Ayer district. As aresult, six of those in the attack were killed and several SSCP
leaders were detained in a series of police raids.™

In April 1927, the Nationalist Government in China carried out a ruthless cam-
paign of suppression against the CCPand their labor unions in Shanghai, Hangchow,
Nanking, Foochow, and Canton in which thousands of Communists and their sym-
pathizers were executed. Following this event, the Malayan KMT purged its leftist
elements, and the Malayan KMT and the Communists became rival groups. CCP
refugees and agents arrived in Singapore to transform the CCP's "South Seas Branch
Committee" into the "South Seas Communist Party" (SSCP). They convened its First
Congress in 1927 to elect a pro tern committee of the SSCP.

According to the MCP's history, Nan dao zhi chun, the SSCP was given full juris-
diction "to gradually expand its activities to all parts of the South Seas."”' The
authority for the extension of the SSCP's activities could only have come from Tan
Malaka just before he ceased being the Comintern's area representative. For the
MCP's official history records that after this event, due to the "inadequate experi-
ence" possessed by SSCP members and to "lack of leadership from the Comintern,"
little was accomplished.’® In 1929 the SSCP received instructions from the CCP to
work out the revolutionary nature and basic tasks of the Malayan revolution. The
CCP set forth the "basic lines of general struggle" for the SSCP.* It is believed that
after the Sixth Comintern Congress held in Moscow in July 1928, Tan Malaka broke
with the Comintern over the causes of failure of the PKI's 1926-1927 uprisings. He
began to concentrate on his own political organization, Partai Repoeblik Indonesia,

*0nraet, Singapore, p. 111. Onraet claims that through the SSGLU Communist influence had
filtered into many Chinese schools, especially night schools, and into every trade and craft. The
fracas was engineered by the night school left-wingers who, to use their own words, "got into
close touch with junior right-wing Kuomintang supporters and led them to apostasy."
However areport from the USconsul in Singapore dated September 1,1927, quoting a private
source, claims that Tan Malaka was in Singapore at this timeand played a role in arousing the
feelings of the Chinese demonstrators (See document no. 11, pt. 1).

SNan daozhi chun, document, pt. 4; McLane, Soviet Strategies, p. 132; Onraet, Singapore, p. 112.
All these sources agree that it was the CCP, not the Far Eastern Bureau of the Comintern based
in Shanghai, which was responsible for Communist activities in Malaya, including the SSCP"s,
up to 1930. Onraet, who is usually anxious to link up the "evil machinations" of international
communism, categorically states: "Between 1926 and 1930 the South Seas Communist group,
controlled from China by the Chinese Communist party, comprised the colonies of Great
Britain, Holland and France, also Siam and Burma, the latter having contact with Burma."
Tsutsui implies that the Far Eastern Bureau of the Comintern was involved when he states that
several CCP agents arrived in Malaya "under Comintern orders" to form the SSCP. See
Hanrahan, Communist Struggle, pp. 31-32. Brimmel in his book Communism in South East Asia,
p- 93, gives what is probably the most acceptable explanation: "The South Seas Communist
Party in Singapore was charged with the supervision of these activities, under the overall
control of the Comintern's Far Eastern Bureau, which continued in illegal existence in
Shanghai, together with the Central Committee of the Chinese Communist Party."
Commenting on the wide geographical control of the SSCP, Onraet observes: "Not a bad effort,
it must be admitted and quite obviously something with a high level directorate," but reveals
there was scepticism in high places on the strength and the coordination of the South Seas
movement.

32See Nan daozhi chun, also McLane, Soviet Strategies, p. 132.
ASee Nan daozhi chun (pt.4).
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Pari, which he had organized in Bangkok even before the Sixth Congress.34 Until
1930, when the Vietnamese Nguyen Ai Quoc (Ho Chi Minh) took over as Comintern
representative from Tan Malaka, Communist affairs were disorganized after the
debacle suffered in 1927.

COMINTERN CONTROL UNDER NGUYEN Ai Quoc™

It was probably in 1929 or early 1930 that the Far Eastern Bureau of the Comintern in
Shanghai began to assume full control of Malayan Communist affairs. According to a,
Japanese source, the Comintern continued to use CCP agents but made the CCP
aware of its criticisms of earlier CCP-directed activities in Malaya. CCP cadres were
accused of being "out of touch with the real mass elements," and of neglecting to
institute a "broad-based workers and peasants movement." In addition, they had
failed to recruit other races besides Chinese and had neglected to maintain "much
closer cooperation and liaison with the Comintern."*® Although the CCP was cer-
tainly responsible for what happened in Malaya, failure could equally be ascribed to
the Comintern itself for its earlier lack of interest in Southeast Asian affairs. One
writer has concluded that the Comintern's criticisms marked "the first serious con-
flict between the Comintern and the CCP over party policies in the area."’ The con-
flict is, however, purely speculative because there is no evidence from Malayan,
Soviet, or Chinese Communist sources to confirm it.”® The CCP at that time was a
fledgling party, not yet the ruling party in China, whereas the Comintern was
responsible for the direction of regional and worldwide Communist operations. The
CCP was subordinate to the Comintern. Besides serving Comintern interests, it was
struggling to carry out its own revolution in China. Far from being locked in a dis-
pute over hegemony with the Comintern, the CCPwas groping along and attempting
to apply its own mode of struggle to Malaya. Given differences of history, language,
and race in Malaya, it is not difficult to imagine that CCP cadres encountered serious
difficulties when trying to tackle problems there. This was why, to overcome race
and language problems, they had sought the assistance of their Indonesian counter-
parts.

In 1933, however, the CCP agreed with Nguyen Ai Quoc's assessment of what
had to be done in Malaya. In an instructional letter to the MCP's Central Committee
(see the MSS document "Malay and Indonesian Communists,” Pt. 5), it said: "In the

AGeorge McT. Kahin, Nationalism and Revolution in Indonesia (Ithaca, N.Y.: Cornell University
Press, 1952), pp. 85-86. See McLane, Soviet Strategies, pp. 97-101, for details of Tan Malaka's

arguments in the Sixth Comintern Congress.

»Nguyen Ai Quoc [Nguyen the Patriot], better known as Ho Chi Minh, was to adopt many

other names, but his real name was Nguyen Tat Thanh. He was born on May 19,1890 in the
village of Kim-Lien in Nghe-An province of Central Vietnam. From the age of 13 he was on the
run from the political authorities, and before the Second World War spent much of his time in

prison. At the end of the First World War,he was in Paris and joined first the French Socialist
Party and then the French Communist Party.In June 1924he attended the Fifth Congress of
the Comintern in Moscow, and in 1925 went to Canton as a Comintern representative.

Thereafter until his arrest in Hong Kong in 1931, he was engaged on Comintern missions and

helped to form the Indo-China Party in 1930.SeeJean Lacouture, Ho ChiMinh (London: Allen

Lane, 1968), pp. 1-48passim.

Tsutsui, Nampo gunsei-ron, p. 335; also cited in Hanrahan, Communist Struggle, p. 29.
*"Hanrahan, Communist Struggle, pp. 32, 38-39.

®McLane, Soviet Strategies, p. 136, rightly dismisses it as "no more than a plausiblehypothe-
sis/'
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progress of the anti-Imperialist campaign and the agrarian revolution, Malaya is a
field for both. Due to geographical proximity, Malaya as a vanguard of the colonial
and semi-colonial revolution, has very intimate connection with China's
revolutionary movement. Our mission is, therefore, to lead the Malayan native
peasants and labourers to join the revolutionary movement, which without them,
will not be a success. The party has so far done very little in this branch of activities
and we must try our level best to overcome the defects. We are of the opinion that
your party must be responsible for the question of organising a strong and united
Communist Party in Malaya in order to collect all different races and urge them on."

The Comintern Bureau recognized these problems between 1928 and 1930.
Delegates of the SSGLU at the Pan-Pacific Trade Union Conference held in Shanghai
in August 1929 reported difficulties encountered in attempting to organize the many
nationalities living in Malaya and called on the permanent secretariat to arrange for
competent union organizers from India and other countries to help in this matter.”
This appeal was made after criticisms had been levelled at the SSGLU for its inatten-
tion to Indian and Malay labor.

A thorough review of the Malayan situation was undertaken and discussed
either at the Second or Third Representatives' Meeting of the SSCP, which was
secretly convened in Singapore in April 1930. The meeting was chaired by Comintern
representative Nguyen Ai Quoc, who reportedly criticized the poor record of the
CCP cadres in Malaya, especially their failure to make much headway in the recruit-
ment of Malays and Indians. He ascribed the failure of the SSCP to its inability to
resolve the racial question.*” The Malayan Security Service document entitled "Malay
and Indonesian Communists" (see document, pt. 5) described Nguyen Ai Quoc's
important role at this conference as follows:

NGUEN [sic] AI QUOC, who at the Third Representative Conference of the
M.C.P. had urged particularly the need for Chinese members to study the Malay
language and enlist Malay recruits, was extremely active in the development of
the Malay and Javanese party. It was revealed in the investigation of the
LEFRANC [Comintern agent arrested in Singapore in June 1931] case that he
[NGUYEN AI QUOC] had brought the attention of the Far Eastern Bureau to

**Hanrahan, Communist Struggle, p. 37.

“OPolice intelligence sources give contradictory evidence on whether it was the second or third
representatives' meeting of the SSCP or MCP. See the chronology in the US intelligence docu-
ment, in pt. 3, which lists it as the second representatives' conference. McLane, Soviet Strategies,
pp. 135-36. Nan dao zhi chun (pt. 4) also calls it the "Second Congress" which it states was held
in 1930. Once again Brimmel, in his book Communism in South East Asia, p. 94, has an
explanation to resolve this confusion: "No headway was made in transmitting revolutionary
fervour to the Malays, or in developing a revolutionary movement in the other countries
concerned. Bythe end of 1929 this general failure was discussed at the Party's [SSCP's] Second
Representatives' Congress (the First was the one which set up the party in 1928), and
apparently brought to the attention of the Comintern. The latter body decided on a
reorganization of the South East Asian theatre, and summoned a Third Representatives'
Conference of the South Seas Party in April 1930, together with a meeting of the South Seas
General Labour Union." However, Nan daozhi chun states that the First Congress was held in
1927. See also Harry Miller, Menace in Malaya (London: Harrap, 1954), p. 23. Miller was a local
journalist who obtained much of his information on the early history of the MCP from in-
terviews with senior British police officers in Malaya. Some scholars may tend to dismiss
Miller's work as journalistic, but he reveals interesting information obtained from his police
sources that is not available elsewhere.
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BASSA [a member of the Indonesian Communist Party who took part in the 1926
rebellion], whom he hoped to enlist as a propaganda and liaison officer between
the Eastern control and the South Seas.

The minutes of the Third Representatives' Conference revealed that there were "three
Malay comrades in Johore and two Malay comrades in Malacca." An outcome of the
meeting was that the SSCP was officially dissolved. In its place two new organiza-
tions were to be set up: the Malayan Communist Party (MCP) and the Indochinese
Communist Party (ICP), both to come under the direct control of the Comintern's Far
Eastern Bureau in Shanghai. The parties of Siam, the Dutch East Indies, and Burma
were to be subdepartments of the MCPbut this was reported to be only a temporary
arrangement. Once these subdepartments were strong enough they would be given
full party status. Onraet gives two possible reasons for the SSCP's break-up: its cum-
bersomeness and "the disordered state into which it had been thrown by arrests and
deportations."*' The takeover of direct control of Malayan Communist affairs by the
Comintern Bureau was obviously intended to be a shift away from the CCP. To facili-
tate closer liaison with these parties, the Bureau setup a "Southern Section" in Hong
Kong, which was also charged with direct handling of the Communist movement in
Kwangtung, Kwangsi, Yunnan, and Fukien provinces in South China.*

Following similar Comintern orders, the SSGLU was reorganized into the
Malayan Federation of Labor (MFL). A clear idea of Comintern designs behind the
reorganization emerged at the MFL's congress when priority was placed on the
organization of other races, especially Malays, over the Chinese. According to one
representative, "The mass of Malay workers are yet to be organised into the trade
unions and brought under the leadership of the MFL. . .. the main point to bear in
mind is that the Malay worker must be reached and recruited."*

However, before the Comintern's plans could be fully carried out, the Comintern
bureau and its Southeast Asian network were shattered in 1931 by a series of police
raids and arrests. A member of the French Communist party, Joseph Ducroix (alias
Serge Lefranc) was arrested in Singapore in June 1931 as an agent of the Pan-Pacific
Trade Union Secretariat in Shanghai (See documents 15 and 16, pt. 1). He had been
assigned to carry out the absorption of the SSCP into the MCP. His revelations under
police interrogation led to the arrests of the secretariat's chief in Shanghai, Hilaire
Noulens, and Nguyen Ai Quoc in Hong Kong.44 Two leading CCP agents, one of
whom was Fu Ta-ching, were arrested along with Ducroix.*

*! Onraet, Singapore, p. 113.

“Information contained inJapanese Military Administration (Malaya) documents suggest that
the "Southern Section or Bureau" was that of the Far Eastern Bureau of the Comintern in
Shanghai. See Hanrahan, Communist Struggle, pp. 40°11. Miller, Menace in Malaya, p. 23, also
attributes the Hong Kong bureau to the Comintern. However, McLane, Soviet Strategies, p. 147,
describes it as the "Southern Bureau" of the CCP. It appears to have been the Comintern's bu-
reau because the arrest of Nguyen Ai Quoc, the Cominternrepresentative, in 1931 was report-
ed to have occurred in Hong Kong. Cf. Miller, Menace in Malaya, p. 28.

AHanrahan, Communist Struggle, p. 40; McLane, Soviet Strategies, p. 135.

~For more details of the arrest of Nguyen Ai Quoc (Ho Chi Minh) and the Comintern-backed

legal representations to free him, see the interesting article by Dennis J. Duncanson, "Ho-chi-
minh [sic] in Hong Kong, 1931-32" The China Quarterly 57 (January-March 1974): 84-100.

“Tsutsui, Nampo gunsei-ron, pp. 146-47. Tsutsui is the only source to mention Fu Ta Ching.
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THE FORMALMCP: 1932-1935

Despite these setbacks, the Great Depression of 1929-1932 threw many people in
Malaya into dire poverty and unemployment and made them amenable to the ap-
peals of communism. The MCP was, therefore, formally established in 1932. A
twelve-point "revolutionary" program was adopted (see app. A, pt. 3 for the twelve
points), which included the following main aims:

1. Military overthrow of British rule, the rajas, sultans, landlords, and compra-
dores

2. Establishment of a Malayan Workers and Peasants Soviet Republic

3. Nationalization of all imperialist banking enterprises and reactionary property
and lands

4. An eight-hour day, civil rights, and free education in the vernacular to be
guaranteed

5. Redlstrlbutlon of lands to farmers, plantation workers, and revolutionary sol-
diers.*

But before the MCP could begin work on this program, it was plagued by an internal
crisis. The MCP's history, Nan dao zhi chun, says that the party was betrayed by a
group that advocated the "united front" strategy in opposition to the leadership's
militant policy. The crisis was resolved by a L purge of the opposition elements in late
1932 (See document Nan daozhi chun, pt. 4).*

Membership figures reportedly rose and the MCP stepped up its mass demon-
strations and strikes against the British. For a brief period in 1934 the MCP main-
tained intermittent contacts with the Comintern agency in Shanghai after the
agency's revival in that year. A regular Comintern subsidy had also been received.
Between March and October 1934, "D. Ling," a Comintern agent with impressive
credentials from Shanghai, was in Singapore to reestablish contact with the MCP. He
became the driving force behind its reorganization. (See the Special Branch Annual
Report for 1934 in pt. 2.) The Malayan Chinese Seamen's Union was believed to have
supplied the couriers who traveled between the ports of Shangha1 and Singapore to
maintain contact between the MCP and the Comintern.*® "D. Ling" is believed to
have attended the MCP's Central Comittee's Sixth Plenary Session on March 6,1934.
The meeting drew up a constitution in which the MCP described itself as an
"affiliate” of the Comintern.” In June 1934, the MCP received a document said to
have been written by an American Comintern agent in Shanghai (apparently Earl
Browder), which among other things urged the MCP to "expand [its] recruiting
ground 8/ obtaining the sympathy of the working classes of all nationalities in
Malaya"™" (see the police intelligence document "MICP and Labor Unrest," document
no. 18, pt. 1).

“See also Nan daozhi chun, (document, pt. 4); McLane, Soviet Strategies, p. 200, cites identical
details.

*Nan daozhi chun is the only source to mention the party crisis of 1932.
*Onraet, Singapore, p. 114.

*A full English translation of the MCPs 1934 constitution is in Hanrahan, Communist Struggle,
app. 1, pp. 151-62.

%See also Yeo Kim Wah, "Communist Involvement in Malayan Labour Strikes, September
1936-March 1937," Journal of the Malaysian Branch of the Royal Asiatic Society 49, (December
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In December 1934, following complaints about its work, the Central Committee
decided to establish closer contact with the masses. It divided the country into five
centers and a Directing Committee was formed from members of the Central
Committee who were to reside in each center for two months to recruit new members
and stimulate local activities.

Throughout 1935, however, the party lost contact with the Comintern apparatus
in Shanghai and consequently failed to receive any subsidy and instructions. In May
1935 the party sent a representative to Shanghai, but his arrival coincided with raids
by the French Police there and the further disorganization of the Comintern
apparatus. Nevertheless, he established contact with the Chinese Communist Party,
but by the end of the year had not succeeded in obtaining the subsidy or instructions
from the Comintern apparatus. In March 1935 a "Unification Committee" was
formed in Singapore to recruit members of the various races into Communist labor
unions. The committee's members comprised two Chinese, a Tamil, a Vietnamese,
and a Javanese. At the Malayan Communist Party conference held in September
1935, a new Central Committee was elected. Representative conferences of the
Malayan Communist Youth and Malayan General Labour Union were also held in
Singapore in September and October 1935. (See Special Branch Report for 1935, pt. 2).

THE RESURGENCE OF THE PKI GROUP: 1934-1936

In 1934, the Special Branch (see their report for 1934, pt. 2) also detected further evi-
dence of Indonesian Communists being used by the Comintern "to infect the indige-
nous population of Malaya [the Malays] with the virus of Communism, and for this
purpose the services of some of the 'intelligentsia’ amongst the N.E.I, renegade group
resident in Singapore, have been requisitioned.” The report goes on to give the
following description of the group's activities:

This group which numbers about fifty "Indonesians" in Malaya of any impor-
tance, are the local representatives of that body of fugitives who fled from the
Netherlands Indies after the rebellion there of 1926-27. Amongst them are sup-
porters of all or nearly all the various political groups into which the aspirations
of "Indonesians" are split up. There is also amongst them, a small section of pure
Communists with an "international" outlook and it is from amongst this small
section that helpers have been found by the M.C.P. to prepare the propaganda in
Malay, found at Flower Road [Singapore] which is intended to further the
progress of the "Racial Movement" in Malaya.

To this extent the "internationally minded" members of the N.E.I, renegade
group in Malaya are a local danger. The majority of the group are, however,
chiefly interested in their various schemes for the liberation of "Indonesia."

It is a question what line is best to be taken against the locally resident
"international” Communist[s] from the N.E.L., whose arrest merely discloses in-
formation, without producing evidence sufficient for banishment. One of the
more dangerous members of this group named Amir Hamzah Siregar left
Singapore for Java on 3rd October 1934 and was arrested by the Dutch authori-
ties on 29th December, 1934.

1976): pt. 2, pp. 36-79 for a fuller discussion of how the MCP carried out Browder's instruc-
tions.
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No further evidence of the PKI group appears in the Special Branch Annual
Reports for 1935 and 1936, but in the 1948 Malayan Security Service document (see
pt. 5), the Special Branch had reported that their activities had, in fact, continued up
to 1936, although on a decreasing level. It also noted that in 1934 the propaganda
directed by the MCP underwent a significant change: "Whereas formerly similar
propaganda had been Chinese inspired, began too far up the scale and ended in a
meaningless jargon full of foreign terms which conveyed nothing to the average
Malay there was now being issued in Malay documents of a comprehensive charac-
ter. Elementary Communist principles were presented in understandable Malay of
Indonesian origin with a minimum of Party jargon and international terms. One of
these documents was a translation of the instruction letter [from the Chinese
Communist Party to Malaya "Central"] referred to above."

Seven Indonesian and Malay Communists who were known to one another came
under surveillance between 1934 and 1937. Among them were "Ma AH" (real name
Sutan Jenain, who was believed to have arrived in Malaya originally in 1910), and
Amir Hamzah Siregar, who had a string of aliases. Information revealed that be-
tween November 1933 and September 1934 regular payments were being made by
the MCP to four of them, who included Sutan Djenain and Amir Hamzah Siregar.

Information was received from the Dutch authorities that Amir Hamzah Siregar,
who was last reported to have been arrested by the Dutch authorities on December
29,1934, had contacted a Javanese Communist named Sajoeti, a former president of
the PKI, in Surabaya before his arrest. Amir Hamzah had received from Sajoeti
instructions on behalf of the MCP. Sajoeti was arrested in Singapore on a banishment
warrant on July 15,1935.

Because Comintern policy was still pan-racial, a Unification Committee (see
Special Branch Report for 1935, pt. 2) was set up by the MCP's Central Committee,
composed of one Indian, one Malay, and one Chinese. The first evidence of the work
of this committee was the establishment on a new footing in August 1935 of the
Singapore Traction Company branch of the General Labour Union, Singapore. The
cells of the branch were of mixed nationalities—Indian, Malay, and Chinese—and
were formed on the five-man principle.

The 1948 Malayan Security Service document records that in December 1936
Djoeliman Siregar, a Christian Batak, who was converted to communism by Amir
Hamzah Siregar, had also come to the notice of the Special Branch when he had just
completed an inspection tour of Negri Sembilan and Malacca on behalf of the MCP.
He had arrived in Malaya in May 1934. After this trip, Sutan Djenain came under
strict surveillance. He was reported to have been a member of the MCP's Central
Committee and also of the Malayan Racial Emancipation League. Another League
member, Salim, was said to have sent a written report on activities in Selangor to the
MCP Central Committee in March 1937.

However, the activities of the Malay and Indonesian Communists were reported
to have stopped completely during the period 1937-1940. In the 1948 Malayan
Security Service document, one finds the following observations:

It is undoubtedly true that the Communist Party had had little success in getting
Malays to take an active interest in communism, and that in addition the Party
had been dealt several crippling blows by the Police Forces of the FM.S. and
Singapore. (383 Communists were banished from Malaya between 1933-1937).
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But it is difficult to believe that revolutionary Communists in hiding from
Indonesia should have been quiescent for this length of time. The fact remains,
however, that no information was received and we are brought now to the out-
break of the Pacific war.

Although from 1937-1941 the activities of the Indonesian Communists had not been
sighted by the Special Branch, this did not mean that their influence was no longer
felt by local Malays. The leaders of the Kesatuan Melayu Muda (Young Malay
Union), which was founded in 1938—Ibrahim Yaacob, Ishak Haji Mohamed,
Burhanuddin Al-Helmy, and others—were known to have had contacts with Alimin,
Sutan Djenain, and other Indonesian Communists from 1926-1927 onwards. Their
pro-Indonesian stance had a left-wing slant; this was noticeable even throughout the
Japanese occupation to the postwar period, when many of the former KMM members
emerged in the Malay Nationalist Party, whose formation was sponsored by the
MCP.

In an account of the period, Ibrahim Yaacob has recalled that the 1926-1927
rebellion received some support among peninsular Malays. The political fugitives
who fled to Malaya were sheltered by their relatives, and some of these fugitives
were active in arousing national consciousness among the Malays. They included
"Jamaluddin Tamin, Tan Malaka, Budiman, Sutan Djenain, Alimin, Mohd. Ariff, and
others/”"'

THE PARTY SPLIT: 1935-1936

In 1935, the rise of fascism in Germany and Italy and the new military power of Japan
forced the Comintern to change strategy at its Seventh World Congress in Moscow.
The previous militant line of all-out opposition to Western imperialism gave way to
the Popular or United Front. Communist parties in the advanced countries of Europe
and America had to seek alliances with all political groups to fight fascism, which the
Comintern, under Soviet influence, now considered a more immediate threat than
Western imperialism. Although the policy made it clear that opposition to imperial-
ism in the colonial territories was not to be abandoned altogether, Stalin and the
Soviet party were believed to have calculated that if the Communist parties in the
metropolitan countries had alliances with their rival ruling groups, parties in the
colonies were bound to follow suit.””> Becausethe MCP was still in a state of disarray
and not in regular contact with the Comintern in 1935, it apparently failed to receive
an invitation to attend the conference. As a result, the MCP did not learn of the
Comintern's new policy until a year later, through contacts made with the CCP in
Hong Kong.>® Even so, it was not until 1937 that the MCP actually carried out the
new Comintern policy.

One reason for this delay probably was that in 1935 and 1936 the MCP suffered a
second internal schism. The crisis appeared to have been over party strategy: How
far should the MCP pursue a militant line? The opposition group was said to have
opposed the party's militant line. Hanrahan's account, which has so far been
regarded as the most authoritative on the split, is now found to have given a wrong

>!Tbrahim Yaacob, Malaya Merdeka (Jakarta: Kesatuan Malaya Merdeka, 1957), p. 20.

McLane, Soviet Strategies, pp. 207-14, summarizes the highlights of the Seventh Comintern
Congress.

SMcLane, Soviet Strategies, pp. 237, 240.



22 From PKI to the Comintern, 1924-1941

interpretation of the event. Using an unpublished manuscript written in 1947 by a
Singapore MCP leader, Wu Tien-wang, he had described the opposition group as "a
group of extremists" who had "attempted to alter the party line in favour of a more
militant, aggressive attack against the British." In fact, what is actually mentioned by
Wu is the opposite. Wu's document, which has now been located and identified
(Hanrahan had failed to detail where he obtained the manuscript),54 in fact reveals
that he had called the opponents "this spineless group," "leftist opportunists,"> and
"sinister agents of reaction," who had "succumbed to the terroristic policy of
imperialism." This last phrase meant that the opponents had been terrified and
cowed by British coercive measures of police shootings, arrests, tortures, and
banishments. Thus, far from being extremists or militants, they were being depicted
as cowardly.

Hanrahan had apparently been led astray by terms which Wu had used to
characterize the opponents' attitude towards the party. Wu also said they had
described the party as "social democrats" and had attacked the "anti-imperialist
united front policy." Wu's report was submitted to the British Empire Conference of
Communist Parties in London in 1947, and it is certain he wanted to justify the
party's position as being in accord with the correct ideological line. It is even possible
there had been some post ipso facto rationalization over an event that had taken place
nine years before. We need to remember that the opponents' crime was simply that
they had dared to challenge the Central Committee's decisions. It seems clear from
his report that what they had wanted was for the party to lie low, or go underground
for a while, to avoid confrontations and stop making sacrifices of manpower in
battles with the police, maybe to conserve party strength. These confrontations, as
Wu had earlier admitted, had resulted in frequent detentions, banishments, and huge
losses of lives of members and supporters. Such losses had given rise to suspicionsof

>*T am grateful to John J. Coe of Darwin, Australia, for making available to me a copy of Wu
Tien-wang's 25-page manuscript entitled "The Communist Party of Malaya, Wu Tien-Wang
1947." A typewritten duplicate was uncovered by his research assistant, Ms. Estelle Holt, at the
Marx Memorial Library in London. Coe, who is the Curator of the Northern Territory Museum
of Arts and Sciences in Darwin, is currently working on his PhD dissertation, "The Malayan
Communist Party: A Study in History and Political Theory" at the University of New England,
Australia. Wu's report, which devotes only four pages to the party's pre-1941 history, is
concerned with giving a more detailed picture of the party's postwar struggles. The report was
presented to the British Empire Conference of Communist Parties in London which Wu
attended in February 1947 and during which the MCP's failure to include national
independence in its postwar platform came in for severe criticism from foreign delegates.
Hanrahan, in his Communist Struggle, p.237, cites the manuscript as follows: "Wu Tien-wang,
The Communist Party of Malaya' (Unpublished manuscript, 1947?)," but fails to mention
where it was located. However, as John Coe states in a communication to me, dated June 27,
1991, given that the passages quoted by Hanrahan correspond both in content and page
numbers with the recovered document, they can be regarded as one and the same.

AHanrahan, Communist Struggle, p.54, had latched on to this term to support his contention
that the opponents were "extremists." According to him, "Left Opportunism, in Communist
ideology, is a tendency to over-estimate the progress of the revolution and, therefore, to
endanger its development. Left opportunists, for example, are often guilty of 'adventurism’,
i.e. of taking unnecessary risks; or of 'putschism/, i.e. of initiatingan armed uprising at a time
when the circumstances are unfavourable to its success." However, Wu could merely have
flown a canard by using what would have been regarded as an "offensive" term to his
international Communist audience in order to make the group as discreditable as possible, but
the charges he leveled against the opposition group are quite specific. The meaning is quite
clear and is contrary to Hanrahan's reading of’it, as will be shown below.
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betrayals by "traitors" and agents in the party. Later on, this would be regarded as
the period which saw the planting of Lai Tek, the British agent, in the party. It is
ironical that Wu should be blaming the opponents as "sinister agents of reaction"
when his own party boss in 1947, Lai Tek, whose virtues he had extolled in the same
report, was a real agent; and he was oblivious to the fact. It seems incongruous, too,
that the opponents could have called the Central Committee "social democrats"
when that description seems more befitting the opponents themselves, unless it was
simply a tactic to discredit the party leadership. Among Communists at that time
"social democrats" were equated with "renegades" and "anti-Communists."

However, let us examine what Wu had said before he discussed the split, in
order to clear up the confusion that had arisen in Hanrahan's mind. Wu had earlier
traced the background of labor struggles waged by the party. According to him, 1936
was the year when the labor movement of Malaya had reached "new heights." Truly,
as the Special Branch Report for 1936 admits, the country had witnessed an
unprecedented series of general strikes by various categories of workers (to be
discussed later); some of these strikes were spontaneous, in common with the rest of
the world due to the world-wide economic recovery, and the Communist Party,
seizing this great opportunity, had organized the rest. "Sensing that the party was at
the head of the great strike movement," Wu said, "British imperialism had resolved
to crush the party and the core of militant workers." Hundreds of labor leaders and
members were "thus arrested, tortured and imprisoned.” So far it is clear that the
people who were leading a militant line were the party leaders, not the opposition
group. Wu then goes on:A°

But, unfortunately, on the one hand, a small section of our Party's rank and file
succumbed to the terroristic policy of imperialism. This spineless group later
formed themselves into the opposition faction within the Party. They
audaciously and brazenly demanded termination of strikes and breaking-up of
militant workers into small underground groups. They vehemently opposed the
organisation of the labour masses on a semi-open basis. They advocated the
policy of educating the militant workers secretly and striving for the
establishment of Soviet power. They denounced the anti-imperialist united front
policy of the Party, and labelled it the political line of the "Social democrats."
Furthermore, these leftist opportunists openly opposed the Party, organised
disruptive groups within the Party, and made no pretence of their antagonistic
attitude towards the Central Committee. In short, by obstructing the role of
leadership played by our Party in the anti-imperialist struggle, and by disrupting
the political unity within the Party, they were in fact sinister agents of reaction
within the Party. Thus, the Party was confronted with its most serious crisis.

One more problem that needs to be resolved is: did the party split occur in 1935
or in 1936? Nan dao zhi chun states that the "opposition faction made its appearance
again in the party in 1935" (see Nan daozhi chun, pt. 4). However, the Special Branch
report for 1936 says it occurred in 1936; its report for 1935 makes no mention of any
split. According to Wu Tien-wang's 1947 account, the split occurred in 1936.”” The

**Wu Tien-wang, "The Communist Party of Malaya, 1947" (Report Presented to the British
Empire Conference of Communist Parties, London, 1947). Marx Memorial Library, London.

bid., p.3.
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truth may be that the split had started at the end of 1935. The Special Branch report
for 1936 attributes the party crisis to a series of assassinations within the MCP during
1936, allegedly caused by suspicion of opposition betrayals that had led to the arrests
in quick succession in December 1935 and March 1936 of two party chairmen. The
arrests led to a belief in the party that certain members, who were known to be
dissatisfied with the lukewarm manner in which Communist activities were being
conducted, had set up an opposition that was betraying the Central Committee to the
police.58 In May, at a meeting held in Johore, it was decided to murder certain
suspected traitors. Three of these suspected persons were lured to Johore and were
murdered there. Two bodies were recovered by the police. The crisis then continued
up to the party representatives' conference in September 1936. This conference
adopted resolutions for launching large-scale strikes throughout the country.
Criticisms of the strikes could finally have led to what Wu had described as the
party's "most serious crisis."

A purge was accordingly launched in 1936, and the opposition faction was elimi-
nated. Lai Tek, a Comintern agent, was reportedly sent to Malaya to settle the crisis.
This was resolved at a conference of the Fifth Enlarged Central Executive held in
Muar, September 1-8, 1936. The fourteen representatives from Singapore, Johor,
Penang, and Selangor who attended the meeting adopted a policy on September 3
entitled "To struggle for the establishment, consolidation and expansion of the Anti-
Imperialist United Front." In short, the meeting officially endorsed the "Vocational
United Front" policy instructed by Earl Browder. In brief, this advice was to the effect
that "the Communist Party should extend their field of activities, and expand their
recruiting ground by obtaining the sympathy of the working classes of all nationalities
in Malaya" (see police CIB document "MCP and Labor Unrest," document no. 18, pt.

D).

Participants in the meeting also decided to step up "proletarian" cultural activi-
ties among the Chinese intelligentsia, especially among schoolteachers and students.
This was a legacy of the period of Communist influence over the Kuomintang gov-
ernment in southwest China from 1924 to 1927 and of the "proletarian literature
movement" in the early 1930s when Communist books, pamphlets, and plays that
had been produced in great quantities had left their mark on Chinese schools, the
press, and literature generally. One of the cultural reforms advocated during this
movement was the romanization of the Chinese script to promote mass literacy.59
Finally, the meeting approved a policy on the propagation of communism among
races other than Chinese. A Malayan Racial Emancipation League was started in
October under the control of a committee of Chinese, Indian, and Malay comrades,
but the Special Branch reported that their efforts met with little success (see Special
Branch Report for 1936, pt. 2).

Most accounts of the MCP's history hardly mention this meeting, probably be-
cause the writers were unaware that it had taken place. Its omission may have been
deliberately fostered by the MCP's official history, written under the leadership of
Lai Tek, because the meeting coincided with the party purge and marked his entry
into the party. This speculation is based on the fact that the MCP's official prewar his-

58 See Special Branch Report for 1936, pt. 2. Some of these details are also found in the Special
Branch document, "Basic Paper on the Malayan Communist Party" cited in McLane, Soviet
Strategies, p. 139.

*The romanized Chinese script is now used in the People's Republic of China.
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tory, Nan dao zhi chun, is content to mention only in passing the "resolutions of the
Enlarged Session of the Fifth Central Executive Committee Meeting of the Malayan
Communist Party." It does not specify what the resolutions were or mention the date
when the session was held or present any discussion of its deliberations, as is usually
done in Nan daozhi chun for all such enlarged party conferences. Consequently, it has
influenced the chronology of key MCP resolutions as listed in the US State
Department paper (found in pt. 3), the details of which had been obtained from the
Malayan Special Branch. The US State Department paper also briefly states, "The
Fifth Executive Expansion Committee Meeting made plans for organizing large-scale
strikes." Its list follows quite closely the chronology as found in Nan daozhi chun, and
writers using Special Branch files have undoubtedly been influenced by it. On the
other hand, the Special Branch papers (such as its Annual Report for 1936) do contain
the decisions of this meeting, but, apparently owing to an oversight, the Special
Branch had not recorded it in the chronology of key resolutions of the MCP that was
passed on to US intelligence. Nan daozhi chun refers indirectly to this meeting, which
it is keen to show produced resolutions that led to "large-scale general strikes" and
endorsed the supremacy of the Central Committee over the opposition faction, which
it described as "anti-workers" as well:

The opposition faction made its appearance again in the party in 1935.
Contravening the party's resolutions and betraying the interests of the working
class, they appealed to a group of young Communist Party members and per-
suaded them to oppose the Malayan Communist Party. They attempted to assist
the enemies to sabotage the Malayan Communist Party and indefinitely subordi-
nate the workers and the laboring masses of Malaya to British imperialists and
the bourgeoisie. This was the most critical challenge since the foundation of the
Malayan Communist Party. But the Central Committee and party organizations
of all levels and the entire membership did not abandon their noble mission of
striving for the eventual liberation of all communities and peoples of Malaya. On
the contrary, they actively and persistently upheld their Bolshevik fighting spirit
and carried out the resolutions of the Enlarged Session of the Fifth Central
Executive Committee Meeting of the Malayan Communist Party. They stood by
the Malayan workers and toiling masses to protect their interests and organized
and led the former in large-scale general strikes in reply to the hideous attacks of
the British imperialist-bourgeoisie. This seriously curbed the anti-party activities
of the opposition faction. As a result, the faction was eliminated. The party was
saved and its organizational foundation remained intact.

THE EMERGENCE OF LAI TEK

This party crisis had, in fact, led the CCPin Yenan and the Comintern in Hong Kong
to send trained cadres to Malaya to help the MCP leadership resolve the crisis.
According to a Japanese military source,”, a troubleshooter named Lai Tek, the
Comintern liaison chief in Hong Kong, was ordered to visit Malaya to deal with the
internal rift. Wu Tien-wang records that "Comrade Wright" (alias Lai Tek) directed
the major portion of the purge, restoring "the ideological unity within the party" and

Asutsui, Nampo gunsei-ron, p. 152, see also McLane, Soviet Strategies, p. 241.
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LAI TEK
(Alias Comrade Wright, alias Chang Hung, alias
Wong Kim Geok and twenty other aliases.)

Lai Tek became Secretary-General of the Malayan Communist Party in 1938 and held
this office until he was unmasked in 1947 as a British Special Branch agent. After
hiding himself in Singapore for several months he then disappeared with most of the
party's funds to Hong Kong and then to Thailand, where he is believed to have been
tracked down by an MCP squad and killed. His death, however, was never officially
confirmed. The recent release of his picture by the Singapore Special Branch to the
mass media is significant because it means that the former Special Branch agent is in
fact dead.
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wiping out "the last remnants of incorrect inclinations." Lai Tek then "emerged the
beloved leader of the party."61

However, according to a Special Branch source (see the Special Branch docu-
ment, Report for the Year 1934, pt. 2), a Cantonese agent of the Third International
had arrived in Singapore in 1934. He was subsequently identified on paper as one
"D. Ling," who had been in touch with the Headquarters of the International of
Seamen and Harbour Workers in Amsterdam and, supposedly, with the Comintern
apparatus in Shanghai. He was described as

an international Communist of evidently high attainments and was the driving
force behind the movement in Malaya during the year 1934. He remained very
much "underground” and his personal identity was known to not more than
three of the members of Malayan "Central" of whom only one was in personal
contact with him. He knows German, French and Chinese besides some English.
His mission in Malaya appears to have been to give effect at least on paper, to the
"Resolutions" of the XHIth Plenum of the Executive Committee of Communist
International (E.C.C.I.) held in Moscow in December 1932, and conveyed to
Malayan "Central” in the Instructionalletter (in Chinese) dated 23rd May 1933
a copy of which was obtained by the Special Branch in August, 1933 (Police
Journal, Page 60 of 1933). The identity of D. Ling was established on paper on 5th
October, 1934, but no opportunity presented itself to arrest him, a difficult and
delicate matter. He left Singapore for Java about 15th October, 1934 by means
and by a route at present unknown. He is expected to return to Malayain 1935.

Who was this mysterious "D. Ling?" Was he Lai Tek? Police raids in June 1934 un-
covered a typewritten document of the Federated Malay States (FMS)railway strike
of April-May 1934 by "D. Ling" in German, evidently intended for Shanghai or
Europe. No more was heard of him in the subsequent annual reports of the Special
Branch for 1935and 1936.

It is now known from Malayan government sources that Lai Tek was a police in-
formant passed on to the British Special Branch from the French Surefe in Saigon,
either in 1934 or 1935. He worked his way into the upper levels of the party hierarchy
during the crisis of 1935-1936 Lai Tek appeared to have impressed everyone in the
party with his alleged Comintern credentials and his great organizing ability. He was
said to have resolved the party crisis during an intensive six-month "offensive

against the opportunists":**

“T'wu Tien-wang, "The Communist Party of Malaya," p. 3.

2This was the letter from the China Communist Party that was discussed above under the
heading "PKI and CCP Activities, 1924-1933".

®The Special Branch document, "Basic Paper on the Malayan Communist Party” cited in
McLane, Soviet Strategies, p. 241. McLane notes that sources differ on the dateof the arrival.Lai
Tek himself claims (in an interrogation with the Malayan Police, March 16,1947) to have joined
the MCP in 1934. An official MCP document entitled "Statement of the Incident of Wright
(alias Lai Tek)," issued following Lai Tek's removal in 1947, dates his entry into the party in
"late 1934 or 1935." It is most probablethat the date of his arrival was sometime in 1934,soon
after the first internal crisis. Surprisingly, Nan daozhi chun, written at the time he was leader,
does not refer to his date of arrival or to him atall.

AWu Tien-wang, "Communist Party of Malaya," p. 3.
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In order to safeguard its correct line of national liberation, the Party
unhesitatingly launched an offensive against the opportunists. Within six
months, the true colour of the opportunists was exposed in its entirety. In the
course of the anti-oppositionist struggle emerged the beloved leader of our
Party, Comrade Wright. In the nick of time, Comrade Wright managed to
restore ideological unity within the Party and successfully wiped out the last
remnants of incorrect inclinations. In accordance with Comrade Wright's
correct directions our Party unanimously reiterated its firm resolution on the
advocacy of the anti-imperialist united front. At the sixth Plenary Session of
the Central Committee [this was held in 1938], Comrade Wright was
unanimously proclaimed and acknowledged as the undisputed leader of our
Party. The Central Committee of our Party rallied around Comrade Wright
with unprecedented unanimity.

It is this writer's contention that Lai Tek acted as the shadow of Nguyen Ai Quoc, a
role urged on him by the British police, to fill in the Comintern gap following
Nguyen Ai Quoc's arrest in Hong Kong in 1932. A recent British account, clearly
based on secret intelligence reports, has given rise to this contention, borne out by the
fact that both Ho Chi Minh and Lai Tek were Vietnamese, and the British could have
ingeniously used the latter to pose as the former's aide:®”’

Although it was not known at the time, Chang Hung (who went under ten
other names, including Lai Tek, and Mr. Wright) was hedging his bets by
acting for the Japanese. A Chinese with Annamite blood, he came to Singapore
in 1933 from French Indo-China where he had been acting as an informer, to
work in the same capacity for the Malayan authorities. He joined the
communist Seamen's Association and, helped by a claim of Ho Chi Minh's
friendship and support, became Secretary General of the MCP. He was arrested
by the Japanese soon after they arrived in Singapore and released on condition
that he worked for them.

THE MCP ANDLABOR UNREST: 1936-1937

Lai Tek's emergence into prominence was facilitated by the outbreak of Chinese
labor unrest in rubber estates, mining, and other industries in the states of Selangor,
Singapore, southern Johor, and Negri Sembilan between September 1936 and March
1937. The party had decided to implement its resolutions adopted at the conference

®See Charles Cruickshank, SOE in the Far East (London:Oxford University Press, 1983), p.196.
SOE, or Special Operations Executive, was a wartime clandestine intelligence agency whose
US counterpart was the OSS, or Office of Strategic Services. Cruickshank had access to SOE
records in London for information on its wartime operations in Southeast Asia, including
Malaya. During the war SOE agents were sent by submarine for a rendezvous at a jungle
hideout in Perak state. They held negotiations with Lai Tek, who used the alias Chang Hung,
to arrange for the assistance of the MCP's guerrillas against the Japanese. Throughout the
Japanese occupation of Malaya, the SOE agents did not know that they were dealing with their
former agent, as he used various disguises. In addition, the SOE agents did not include his
former Special Branch bosses who could have identified him. Although one of them, Spencer
Chapman, claimed to have met him once before the war, Lai Tek had attended their meeting
wearing dark glasses. But the truth came out not long after the British return to Malaya. Fora
more detailed account of this master spy's wartime activities, see Cheah Boon Kheng, Red Star
Over Malaya, pp. 82-100.
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of the Fifth Enlarged Central Executive Committee in September 1936. The party felt
it necessary to exploit widespread labor grievances among Chinese workers engaged
in the Chinese contract labor system, and also over low wages paid by European and
Chinese estate and mine managements. Malaya had recovered from the depression
and with tin and rubber prices rising, Chinese workers themselves were striking and
making their own demands on employers.

In pursuing Browder's advice, the MCP had succeeded during the years 1935
and 1936 in establishing cells in all the Klang and Batu Laut factories (rubber and
pineapple) and at Malayan Collieries in Batu Arang, all located in the state of
Selangor. The time was ripe for the party to pursue the policy for which their work
during the previous two years had been mere preparation. Special Branch agents dis-
covered that to prepare for battle at the picket lines, the September conference had
decided to change the organization of the party so that the Malayan General Labour
Union, which was affiliated to the party, would have its headquarters at Kuala
Lumpur instead of at Singapore and that the headquarters of a Northern Communist
Party should also be at Kuala Lumpur and should be capable of action independent
of Singapore.

It was decided that fifty strikes, which had been organized throughout Malaya,
should proceed during the succeeding three months and that money should be raised
for the party by robberies, smuggling, lotteries, and extortion. Some of these plans
were put into operation, and in December 1936, the party reorganization, decided
upon at the Representative Conference in September, was put into effect. Kuala
Lumpur became the headquarters of the General Labour Union and the Northern
Communist Party (see memorandum of the director, Criminal Intelligence Bureau,
Kuala Lumpur, undated, probably April 1937, in pt. 1). The Special Branch Report for
1936 (pt.2) also observed: "A wave of strikes swept over Malaya in common with the
rest of the world during the latter half of 1936, and the local Communist party did
not lose the opportunity to exploit the situation." Elsewhere the report also added: "It
is probable that, had there been no communism in Malaya, strikes for increased
wages would still have taken place on the return of prosperity to the country."

Document no. 18 (pt. 1), "MCP and Labor Unrest," is an unclassified file on the
1936-1937 strikes in Selangor in the Selangor Secretariat records at the Malaysian
National Archives, which s still open to researchers. It has several police reports that
provide interesting details on Communists arrested during the strikes and banished
to China.®® Those identified were Central Committee members of the MCP: Lee,
chairman of North Central command, who expounded Communist doctrines
"whenever opportunities offered"; Chiu Tong, another Central Committee member,
who, like Lee, appeared very knowledgeable; his right-hand man Chan Han, a
twenty-eight-year-old, five-foot-two Hainanese with a white, round face, who was
said to have had a secondary education; Pang Sow Lin, a skillful agitator, of whom a

Dr. Yeo Kim Wah of the History Department, National University of Singapore, was the first
scholar to use this source. See his excellent article, "Communist Involvement in the Malayan
Labour Strikes." The article attempts to disprove earlier studies that Communists played
scarcely any role in these Malayan strikes. For earlier studies, seeJ. N. Parmer, "Chinese Estate
Workers' Strikein Malaya in March 1937," in The Economic Development of Southeast Asia, ed. C.
D. Cowan (London: Praeger, 1964), and J. N. Parmer, "Attempts at Labour Organizationby
Chinese Workers in Certain Industries in Singapore in the 1930's," in Papers on Malayan
History, ed. K. G. Tregonning (Singapore: Journal of South-East Asian History, 1962); and also M.
R. Stenson, Industrial Conflict in Malaya (Kuala Lumpur: Oxford University Press, 1970).
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factory owner complained, "If Pang Sow Lin is at the factory today, there is trouble
tomorrow." After the police had cracked down on the estate strikers, Special Branch
agents observed that Pang turned up in certain furniture factories in Kuala Lumpur
where parting "his hair in a different way" and tipping some of his teeth with gold to
disguise his identity, he continued to incite workers to put down their tools and fight
capitalist exploitation. He was arrested in April 1937. Finally, there was Lee Sui, the
self-possessed thirty-year-old Hakka of the Kajang strike committee who spoke "a bit
of Malay" and was described as "beyond any doubt whatsoever a very clever leader,
agitator and member of the Communist Party." On the whole, however, Dr. YeoKim
Wah's assessment of these leaders was that they were "not theoreticians or thinkers"
but, as the colonial authorities conceded, "skilful and audacious organizers and agita-
tors both in their strategy and tactics alike."®’

The strike movement was, however, partially successful. Workers in many
estates and industries obtained wage increases and better working conditions, but
the Communist successes would have been greater had the British authorities not
taken immediate countermeasures to break up the strikes and to isolate labor from
Communist agitators, many of whom were arrested and banished. The most spectac-
ular strike was that at the Batu Arang coal mines in Selangor from March 24-27,1937,
when a "Soviet" was established by the Communist-led workers. A British document
said that during this period the Malayan Collieries mine was an imperium in imperio,
as colonial governmental authority inside had completely collapsed and was only
restored on March 26 when 200 policemen, with two companies of the Malay regi-
ment on the standby, invaded the mine site at 3:30 AM. on a dark night. At dawn,
116 persons were detained, and the essential Collieries services immediately
resumed.

Based on his detailed study of these strikes, Dr. Yeo Kim Wah concluded that the
concessions wrested by workers during the strikes enhanced Communist prestige
and influence among Chinese labor and drove home to labor the power of the strike
weapon. He also observed:

In fact the March [1937] strike marks the beginning of really deep Communist
penetration among Chinese workers, a development sharply accelerated by
Communist involvement in the [China] National Salvation Movement after July
1937. Through this movement, the MCP succeeded in organizing a growing
number of trade unions among Chinese workers, ostensibly for the collection of
financial and other contributions for China's resistance against Japan. By
December 1941 Malayan Communists had, in fact, succeeded in blending the
economic gains of labor with their doctrine of revolution.”®

Lai Tek was said to have played a prominent role in the formation of strike commit-
tees. His claim to leadership was subsequently to rest on his great organizing ability.
At the MCP's Sixth Enlarged Plenum in April 1938 he was elected secretary-general.

MCP AND CHINESE NATIONALISM: THE CHINA SALVATION MOVEMENT: 1937-1941

In October 1936, CCP cadres had reportedly arrived in Malaya to urge the MCP to
step up its anti-Japanese campaign. Anti-Japanese organizations under a central

Yeo Kim Wah, "Communist Involvement," p.57.
% Ibid., p.79.
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organization known as the Anti-EnemyBacking-Up Society (AEBUS) had emerged in
Malaya after the Japanese armed invasion of Manchuria in 1931, but their activities
had been curtailed by strong police action as the Communists used them for anti-
imperialist agitation against the British. Following the CCP directive, some efforts
were made to revive these anti-Japanese organizations, but they did not make much
headway until the outbreak of the Sino-Japanese conflict in 1937. These efforts were
facilitated by the KMT-CCP united front pact against Japan. In Malaya, this pact led
to the formation of the Chinese National Salvation movement (see document
"Review of Communist Activities in Malaya," 1936, pt. 2). The MCP aligned itself
with the KMT and various Chinese associations to organize boycotts of Japanese
goods and businesses and to raise donations and relief aid for China. This movement
subsequently fell under MCP domination and caused the Malayan KMT to break
away in July 1938. The KMT opposed the MCP's aim of turning the anti-Japanese
movement into an anti-imperialist and anti-British movement as well.*’

Predominantly Chinese in membership, the MCP's stand on the National
Salvation Movement betrayed a strong bias toward Chinese patriotism. It exploited
these sentiments to the full to mobilize the "Overseas Chinese" (Hua Ch'iao) to sup-
port its anti-imperialist cause. The MCP, therefore, competed with the KMT for the
support of the Overseas Chinese and in showing its patriotism toward China. An
example of such a display of Chinese patriotic sentiment is found in a left-wing
statement published in a leading Chinese newspaper in Singapore in 1938 aimed at
explaining its struggle to the Chinese and the KMT:

The fact is that we have only one aim, and our attitude is the same as that aim: to
consolidate and expand the Malayan Chinese national salvation united front and
also utilise all kinds of methods, so that every bit of Overseas Chinese strength can
be used for remitting funds back to China for anti-enemy backing-up work, so
that our nation will be able to attain early independence and liberation, and so
that we will not become slaves in a vanquished nation. Our goal is sacred, our
attitude pure and bright.70

The expression "our nation" clearly refers to China and contradicts the MCP's
professed loyalty toward Malaya. Although the MCP seemed to be distinguishing
between the "Malayan Chinese" (Ma Hua), apparently those born in Malaya and
intending to reside permanently in Malaya, and the "Overseas Chinese" (Hua Ch'iao),
those who were ardent nationals of China and who intended to return home after a
brief sojourn in Malaya, it was, nevertheless, encouraging the Malayan Chinese to
show some patriotic sentiment and duty to China. The MCP's inability to distinguish
clearly between separate loyalties to China and to Malaya became increasingly evi-
dent throughout its involvement in the Chinese National Salvation Movement from
1937 to the Japanese invasion of Malaya in December 1941.

Probably because of its successful appeals to the Chinese, the MCP's strength
increased during the anti-Japanese campaign. According to British records, its sup-

%Stephen Leong, 'The Kuomintang-Communist United Front in Malaya during the National
Salvation Period, 1937-1941," Journal of Southeast Asian Studies, 8, (1) (March 1977): 3147.

"Ibid, p. 40. Emphasis added. It should be pointed out that although the statement did not
appear in the name of the MCP, the signatories were all known leftists or MCP members in the
AEBUS.
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porters more than quadrupled from 1934 to 1940 to an overall total, including
Communist-affiliated organizations, of more than fifty thousand. Membership for the
same period in the MCP proper, however, remained constantly around flfteen hun—
dred to seventeen hundred owing to the party's own stringent restrictions.”' The
MCP was still overwhelmingly Chinese. The ratio of Chinese to Malays in
Communist-front organizations during 1930-1935 was said to have been approxi-
mately 15:1 and as high as 50:1 in the party itself,”* and although no figures are
available for the remaining period of 1935-1941, the same picture probably existed.
These figures indicate that the shift in the control of the MCP's affairs from CCP to
Comintern leadership had no real effect in pan-racial terms. A large percentage of the
Chinese members probably still retained an allegiance to the CCP. The scanty evi-
dence available suggests that most of the MCP's Central Committee during this
period were CCP members. Fu Ta Ching, who was arrested with Comintern agent
Ducroix in 1931, was an official of both the Southern China Bureau of the CCP and
the MCP.” In addition to the CCP agents of the Comintern Bureau there was a con-
tinuous flow of CCP members to Malaya. The bloody massacre that the Chinese
Nationalists carried out against the CCP in Canton in 1927 forced large numbers of
Cantonese Communists to flee to Malaya, bolstering the ranks of the MCP.” Later,

CCP veterans of the Chinese Eighth Route Army in Yenan’ > arrived in Malaya to

assist the MCP in its anti-Japanese campaign. Some remained in Malaya throughout
the Japanese occupation to train MCP recruits of the Malayan People's Anti-Japanese
Army (MPAJA) in guerrilla warfare.

The gains in membership achieved by the Communists among the Chinese dur-
ing the anti-Japanese campaign, therefore, appeared to have had an opposite effect
among Malays and Indians. The MCP's call to Malays and Indians to join in the
"anti-Japanese Fascist" struggle failed to get any response.76 Disappointed, the
MCP's CEC reviewed its strategy in July 1938 and decided to revert to its former
strategy of stressing the Sino-Japanese conflict, using the Chinese as its main pillar of
support "It decided to establish an anti-J apanese united front among the Chinese by
adopting the following measures (see the document, app. C, "Policy Decisions of the
Fourth Executive Committee" in July 1938, pt. 3):

""McLane, Soviet Strategies, p. 244, cites a Soviet source.
Albid., p. 303.

Tsutsui, Nampo gunsei-ron, pp. 14647; also cited in Hanrahan, Communist Struggle, p. 41.

Onraet, Singapore, p. 113, claimsthat of the two MCP officials arrested with Ducroix, one was
"a China banishee and an old friend whom I had arrested just three years previously in the
Communist Party bomb factory at Balestier Road, Singapore." He was FuTa Ching.

"Tsutsui, Nampo gunsei-ron, p. 146.

Bys. Department of State, "The Role of the Communists in Malaya," OIR report no. 3789,
March 16,1947. It relies mainly on Malayan Police, Special Branch records.

"This lack of response was most noticeable in the labor field. See Stephen Leong, "Sources,
Agencies and Manifestationsof Overseas Chinese Nationalism in Malaya, 1937-1941," (Ph.D.
diss., University of California, Berkeley, 1976), pt. 2, pp. 482-86, 499-500.

Abid.
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For the purpose of extending and strengthening the common anti-Japanese front,
problems pertaining to Labour-Capitalist relations should be placed below the
priorities of the anti-Japanese struggle. Disputes should be settled placing the
anti-Japanese object above everything. Atthe same time, to safeguard against the
attack of British imperialists on the party, retaliatory measures such as strikes,
etc. should be planned.78

The party also adopted a resolution urging "British imperialism to go on the peaceful
front, and at least refrain from assisting the Fascists."’ The resolution was evidently
aimed at helping the Soviet Union and not at setting any preconditions for coopera-
tion between the MCP and the British authorities. The party, however, pledged thatif
the Japanese attacked Malaya, its stand would be to protect and assist. As a resultof
the July 1938 policy revision, the AEBUS activities escalated during late 1939 to the
point where the AEBUS was reported to have gained thirty thousand members.*

The MCP realized that the other races could not be expected to share the same
enthusiasm as the Chinese in their support for China against Japan. An attempt was
accordingly made at a meeting of the MCP's Central Committee in April 1939 to cor-
rect this situation by launching an "All-Races" united front against fascism and "to
fight for a democratic system, safeguard peace and take action against the Japanese-
Italian-German fascist bloc/®' (See document in pt. 3, "10-Point Directive Issued by
the Sixth Central Expansion Council in April 1939.") In other words, the "anti-
Fascist" united front was to be an extension of the MCP's anti-Japanese campaign to
the other races. The meeting adopted a ten-point "democratic" program demanding
an elected parliament and state councils, civil liberties, equality for women, free edu-
cation, and the release of political detainees. It also called for the support and defense
of China and the Soviet Union, for Indian independence as well as support for the
Spanish people in "defeating the rebellious troops of Franco."®* The ten points in the
program, to each of which was added five or eight more detailed demands, were
aimed clearly at making them unacceptable to the Britishbut were sufficiently wide
to accommodate the interests "of all races of Malaya irrespective of party, class, creed
or religion."®

THE MCP DILEMMA

The MCP's "United Front" program throws light on the dilemma in which the party
was beginning to find itself. The strategy of the anti-Japanese struggle had now been
added to the MCP's anti-Britishimperialist struggle. The Comintern's new line in
1935 had not ruled out cooperation with British imperialism if the MCP thought it
necessary. However, the MCP had decided to continue with its anti-British imperial-

U.S. Government, "The Role of the Communists in Malaya," app. C, "Policy Decisions of the
Fourth Executive Committee Meeting of the MCP in July 1939," 119 (seedocument in pt. 3).

PIbid.
“Leong, "Sources, Agencies and Manifestations," p.500.

81See Nan dao zhi chun (document in pt. 4). McLane, also refers to the date of the Sixth Plenum
as "April 1939." Cf. McLane, Soviet Strategies, pp. 240-41. His date is based on the MCPdocu-
ment, "History of the Malayan Communist Party" found in the Malayan government record.

8See Nan daozhi chun. McLane, Soviet Strategies, p. 241, cites almost identical details.
ASee Nan daozhi chun.
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Ist strategy because it considered its party strength was inadequate and the "British
imperialists” themselves were not ready for cooperation:

In Malaya at present, on account of intensified British exploitation, the national
bourgeoisie are increasingly going into bankruptcy and the people's livelihood
made difficult. On the one hand, there is an upsurge of anti-Britishstruggle and
on the other rising anti-Japanese Fascist feelings owing to the people's fear of a
threat of Japanese invasion. But the British are hesitant and wavering in building
up the defence of Malaya.

The United Front under the leadership of the Party is still not strong enough to
talk of cooperating with the British because of the disparity of strength between
the British and the Party. The British still rely on their own powers instead of the
strength of the people. At this moment, we must concentrate ourselves on uniting
all races under the principle of national unity. We must use democracy as a
weapon in order to organise the disorganised masses.*

The above arguments suggest that the MCP had not yet established sufficient
support among Malays and Indians or created a sound basis for the national libera-
tion movement in Malaya's plural society. Hence, the need for building up "national
unity" first. The MCP further admitted that, during the 1930-1938 period, although
its anti-imperialist struggles had continued to develop, and the number of strikes had
increased, including civil servants pressing demands to raise living standards, "our
mass organizations and politics have not reached the stage strong enough to over-
throw British imperialism. n83

In adopting the "All Communities United Front Against Fascism" the MCP was
hoping to benefit from the decision of the Comintern's Seventh Congress in 1935 that,
according to the MCP, had declared that the most urgent task of Communist parties
in the colonies and semi-colonies was to establish an anti-imperialist front. For this
purpose, they should absorb as many as possible of the masses into the national lib-
eration movement. They should be mobilized not just against imperialistexploitation
and oppression but in actual participation in nationalist and reformist-led move-
ments.® Thus, the anti-British imperialist struggle was permissible within a broad
united front and could be conducted simultaneously with the anti-Japanese fascist
struggle. Butthe MCP was aware that the anti-Japanese fascist struggle had a greater
appeal to the Chinese in Malaya than to the other races, and, therefore, it hoped that
it could establish the widest "united front" possible to include the other races on the
basis of "fighting for democratic rights."

With the United Front program the MCP appears not to have altered its anti-
British position by the time the Soviet-Nazi Pact was signed in August 1939. The pact
allowed them, with full approval of the Comintern, to continue with their anti-British
policies. Following the pact and the outbreak of the war in Europe, Communist-led
work stoppages at the British naval base and in other areas escalated. This escalation
was part of an anti-war movement "to smash the general offensive launched by

**Nan dao zhi chun. For a brief resume, see also McLane, Soviet Strategies, p. 242.
8'Nan dao zhi chun.
%Ibid.
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British imperialism."®” Simultaneously, the AEBUS activities were stepped up in
order to draw the British authorities into an appearance of hositility towards the
National (Chungking) Government of China (see documents no. 18and 19in pt. 1).

Spurred by the successes of the strike movement and the AEBUS activities,
between November 1939 and January 1940, the MCP's CEC at its Sixth Enlarged
Plenum adopted a shorter ten-point "All-Races Democratic United Front" program
that was almost identical to its April 1939 ten-point program exceg)t that it was shorn
of all the subsections that were now considered "out of date."* The MCP, in fact,
had decided to put its struggle back on a pan-racial basis. In the hope that Malays
and Indians would support it, the party reiterated its demands for democratic rights.
The party elaborated on its policies. Under the "All-Races United Front" (now called
the "Anti-Imperialist Racial United Front"), Chinese in Malaya were told that they
should still consider their main task "to assist the Motherland" (i.e., China); Malays
should "carry on the Racial Independence Movement"; and Indians should struggle
for the independence of India from British imperialism. In addition, each of these
races should also consider participating in the anti-British imperialist and anti-
Japanese struggles in Malaya, so that they could coordinate their struggles within the
main struggle for "national independence” against the British imperialists.

THE "BOURGEOIS-DEMOCRATIC" REVOLUTION

The February 1940 United Front program of the Sixth Enlarged Plenum was also
significant for its description of the MCP's phase of struggle as the "bourgeois-demo-
cratic revolution."” The features of this struggle were anti-imperialism and agitation
for democratic rights under a broad alliance of workers, peasants, "progressive intel-
lectuals," and the "national bourgeoisie" including the "national Capitalists,"91 the
whole coalition coming under the control of the proletariat and the Communist
party. The MCP's ten-point "democratic" program was aimed at creating better con-
ditions for the MCP to operate in. The program implied that the MCP desired self-
government for Malaya (by its demands for voting rights and elected legislatures).
The aim of a "Workers and Peasants Soviet Republic" adopted in its 1932 program
had been downgraded, as had other revolutionary aspects of that program—the
removal of the Malay rajas and sultans, nationalization of foreign banking enter-
prises, and the confiscation and redistribution of the lands of rajas and capitalists to
the farmers and workers. Apparently, the MCP considered the 1932 demands too
advanced, or perhaps these demands had lost their exponents in the party's factional

8Ibid.; McLane, Soviet Strategies, p.242.
Mm dao zhi chun. It is the only document to contain those resolutions.
89ry.:
Ibid.
“Ibid. It is the only known source to mention this.

9'The CCP's strategy was to regard "national capitalists" in a colonial society as an "oppressed
group" because it was thought they suffered from discriminatory policies practiced by the
colonial administration, who favored the capitalists of their own nationality. Mao Tse-tung's
"New Democracy," drafted in 1939and adopted as CCP policy, spelled out the guidelines o
the "bourgeois-democratic revolution" within the "New Democracy" phase of struggle. Mao
makes space for the intelligentsiaand the middle class in colonial society or semi-colonial
society like thosein China who "suffer and are oppressed by the colonial system" and possess
together with the majority of the poor, the workers, and the peasants, that revolutionary
dynamic, "at certain periods and to a certain degree" and could, therefore, act as allies of the
working class and the petit bourgeoisie. See Mao Tse-tung, Selected Works of Mao Tse-tung,
(New York: International Publishers, 1954), 3: 72-101.
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disputes of 1932 and 1935-1936. In any case, the MCP believed that the prerequisite
"national unity" had to be established beforehand. It was hoped that the "All
Communities United Front" against imperialism and fascism would bring this about.

Although "national independence" was now mentioned for the first time, it is
apparent that the MCP had worked out a potentially hopeless formula, extremely
confusing and ambiguous, involving a diversity of goals and a diffusion of energies.
The MCP could not possibly link and coordinate these different strategies success-
fully. As far as priorities were concerned, it was not clear whether the anti-Japanese
struggle was to supersede the anti-British imperialist struggle as both seemed to be
running along parallel lines. Communists and workers involved in anti-Japanese
strikes and demonstrations inevitably clashed with British police, which in turn esca-
lated anti-British agitation.

THEMCP ANDTHE MA HUA (MALAYAN CHINESE)

Paying special attention to the Chinese, the MCP reiterated that it saw the Chinese in
Malaya as consisting of two groups—the "Overseas Chinese" (Hua ch'iao) and the
"Malayan Chinese" (Ma Hua).” Because all classes of Overseas Chinese in Malaya
had become increasingly involved in the anti-Japanese struggle and in the China
National Salvation Movement, the party decided to give its full support to their
struggles. On the other hand, the Malayan Chinese had not yet developed their anti-
imperialist struggle against the British to a point where they and the other races
could coordinate all their struggles to achieve the "high tide" of national liberation in
Malaya. Nan dao zhi chun states: "If the Malayan Chinese [Ma Hua] could develop
correctly, they would also be anti-imperialist in nature. As the Malayan Chinese were
not directing their principal struggle against British imperialism they could not
therefore be the leading force of the Malayan Anti-Imperialist United Front." Until
each of the races in Malaya stepped up its anti-imperialist struggle, it thereby argued,
the fight for national independence could not become the principal struggle.
Meanwhile, the party considered it necessary to involve the Malayan Chinese bour-
geoisie in the anti-Japanese movement of the Overseas Chinese. For the party to
achieve such support, Malayan Chinese workers were required to cease their strikes
against the Malayan Chinese bourgeoisie. Strikes were to be carried out only against
"traitor cagitalists” (i.e., those who traded with the Japanese) and against British
capitalists. }

MCP AND COOPERATION WITH THE BRITISH

Some time in September 1940, the MCP is said to have received instructions from the
CCP to call off all strikes and other anti-Britishagitation. The reason for this was
reportedly a new agreement concluded between the CCP and the Kuomintang
government (Chungking) in July 1940, which was ratified at Yenan about mid-
August.94 Apparently the CCP undertook to suspend its anti-British and anti-

“’Nan daozhi chun is the only source for this.

“Ibid. (see the British intelligence documents 18 and 19in pt. 1).

%See S. W. Jones, Officer Administering the Government (acting Governor), Straits
Settlements, to the Secretary of State for the Colonies, November 27,1940, in CO 273/666/50336.
The reason given for this latest change of policy of the CCP was that Britain and the United
States were now irrevocably on the side of Chinain her struggle againstJapan. McLane, Soviet
Strategies, p. 243, suggests that the Chungking government was hoping that the ending of anti-
British agitation might gain British intervention in the opening of the Burma Road for military



Introduction 37

imperialist policy, a decision which was communicated to the MCP.” Although the
MCP agreed not to offer opposition to any campaign initiated by the Chinese
community in Malaya to aid Britain's war effort, such as the purchase of Imperial
War Bonds, nor to continue anti-British strike agitation,” this undertaking
apparently applied only to Singapore and not on the Malayan mainland.”’

Long before Britain became China's ally in the war in December 1941 the
Communists had been conducting anti-Japanese agitation in Malaya, not only against
the local Japanese but also against Chinese shopkeepers and firms dealing with
Japanese. Consequently, they had come into conflict with the British authorities,
whose policy was to ensure that British relations with Japan were not compromised.
British action made it difficult for the MCP to reduce or call off its anti-British agita-
tion. Furthermore, when its united front with the Malayan KMTbroke up in 1938, the
MCP had also resumed its activities against KMT elements that, according to one
source, "occasionally reached the extreme of assassination."”® These activities against
the Japanese, the British, the Chinese shopkeepers, and the Chinese Nationalists
continued to be repressed by the police, who were able to arrest many Communist
leaders and to deport them to Chiang Kai-shek's China, where most of them were
executed.

As far as the MCP's "Anti-imperialist Racial United Front" was concerned, the
policy was a complete failure. Between March and May 1941 a series of strikes by
some five thousand Indian estate workers broke out in the Klang area of Selangor.”
But there was no evidence that they had come under the influence of the MCP. In
fact, the Central Indian Association of Malaya, (QAM)'” was responsible for orga-
nizing the strikes. The strikes led to some improvements in wages and working con-
ditions. In fact, the British authorities were surprised that the Communists were not
behind the strikes. It was established that there was no connection between the CIAM

and economic aid to reach Chungking. (See British intelligence documents 18 and 19in pt. 1
concerning CCP directives to the MCPto this effect.)

“Ibid. Stephen Leong, however, argues that the MCP independently reached its decision to

reduce or stop anti-British agitation, and not as a result of CCP directives as claimed by British
intelligence. His whole argument rests on a theory that the MCP had few or noconnections
with tﬁe CCP. Cf. Stephen Leong, "Sources, Agencies and Manifestations," pp. 549-73.

%Nan dao zhi chun states: "In order to attain a more conducive situation for the All Malayan
Chinese National Salvation Movement, all anti-British activities should now stop. ... As for
the campaign to support England, we could adopt a neutral stand."

7 According to Edgar O'Ballance, Malaya: The Communist Insurgent War, 1948-60 (London:
Faber, 1966), p. 32, "Lai Tek did not completely accept these instructions [which O'Ballance
claims came from the Hong Kong branch of the CCP]or obey them too literally; but he did
order somerelaxation." If one bears in mind that he was a British police agent, Lai Tek was
apparently prolonging anti-British agitation for his own self-interest to ensure that the British
still had need of his services. O'Ballance was a British Army major who had access to some se-
cret British official sources on Communist activitiesin Malaya.

% Ibid.

"See R. Bagot, inspector-generalof police, FMS, "Report on Strikes in Selangor," Kuala
Lumpur, June 13,1941, pt. 1,in CO 717/145/51574/1, pt. 1.

'%Tpid. The inspector-general of police describes the political views of the CIAM as
"essentially those of the Indian CongressParty" and controlled by "a group of Malayalees
[Indians originally from Kerala], of whom Raghavan of Penang, Neelakandha Aiyer of Kuala
Lumpur and M. R. Menon of Singapore are the most prominent and who maintain touch with
Congress leaders in India whose advice is occasionally sought."
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and the MCP.'”! However, three Indian labor leaders were arrested and banished to

India for their part in the strikes. Clearly, by concentrating its political activities
among Chinese, and neglecting not only Malay but Indian labor as well, the MCP
had failed to organize an effective pan-racial united front.

THE MCP's SECRET STRATEGY: JULY 1941

The MCP's CEC adopted a more moderate line at its Seventh Enlarged Plenum held
in Singapore in July 1941,one month after Germany invaded the Soviet Union.
Britain was now aiding both the Soviet Union and China. The MCP now made over-
tures to the British for mutual cooperation against the rising threat of Japan. The
MCP's offer was conditional on the British acceptance of its minimum demand that
they should grant "democratic rights" to the people. In return, the party would sus-
pend its slogan of "anti-British imperialism" and rally its forces behind the defenseof
Malaya. The MCP's official history explained this decision as follows:'”*

We are under no illusion that the British government would understand that the
most urgent demand of the people is for national liberation. We want the British
government to accept the demands of the party and the people for liberty and
fundamental democratic rights. The procurement of fundamental rights was the
party's bridge [would come halfway] to accomplishing its task of national libera-
tion. From the anti-Fascist standpoint, the party would not want to put forth the
slogan of crushing British imperialism. Nevertheless, it would not hesitate to
suggest that democracy must be practised so as to defeat the Fascists and to pro-
tect peace and order in Malaya

In its anti-Fascist struggle, the party must maintain its political and organiza-
tional independence, and be free to criticize the British government. . .. It was
thus obvious that the party's policy on the Anti-Fascist United Front was a policy
to uphold the supremacy of national interests. It was absolutely not a policy of
unconditional cooperation with the British government to protect the wealth and
properties of the British capitalists, or a policy content with begging narrow and
factional democratic rights from the British government.

Secretly, however, the party advocated the strategic slogan, "Establish the
Malayan Democratic Republic," which reflected the character of the party's
"bourgeois democratic revolution." ' The decision was to enable the MCP to main-
tain flexibility of action in case the British accepted its offer. This rationalization was
spelled out carefully as follows:'**

The party's slogan, "To strive for the establishment of a Malayan Democratic
Republic" was a strategic slogan of the party in its phase of bourgeois democratic
revolution. Anti-imperialism and land reforms were the contents of that phase's
strategic aims. The dictatorship of an All-Communities Revolutionary Alliance
would be centred on the petty bourgeoisie, the peasants and working class, but

19’Nan dao zhi chun.
%31bid.
1%bid.
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led by the proletarian party. It would assume the form of a democratic republic.
The party's strategic aim of this phase would be changed when and whence it
was deemed necessary. If the party failed to alter its revolutionary strategy
according to the requirements of circumstances, or to replace the obsolete slogans
with new ones, it would then be unable to achieve the objectives of revolution.

The decision meant that the MCP was ready to take advantage of the opportunity
to expel the British from Malaya whenever practicable. If Japan should invade
Malaya, the Communists would continue to support an anti-Japanese front but only
as a means of extending Communist influence. Such a secret decision was reported to
have been known only to certain party leaders.'” Whether the British knew of it at
that time is not known, but the MCP's offer was repeatedly rejected until after
Japanese forces had landed in Kota Bharu (northeastern peninsula, Malaya), when it
was reluctantly accepted.

THE JAPANESE OCCUPATION OF MALAYA: 1941-1M45

The Japanese occupation period saw the extensive destruction of the party's organi-
zation in Singapore and Malaya. Repeated raids and large-scale arrests, imprison-
ments, and killings of party cadres and officials by the Japanese Kempeitai (military
police) had caused Communist activities to cease completely in the towns and cities
by April 1943. These successful Kempeitai actions were due largely to one man—Lai
Tek, who was arrested by the Kempeitai in March 1942 and who, for personal gain
and survival, collaborated with them as a police agent. Lai Tek frequently betrayed
party leaders by gathering them at one meeting place, where they were either
rounded up or killed by the Kempeitai while attempting to escape. The personality
cult around his person was so well built up that even when his secret leaked out, the
party refused to believe it. 106

The only intact organizational unit of the party was the resistance army, the
Malayan People's Anti-Japanese Army (MPAJA). This unit was partly a British crea-
tion. Trained and armed by the British for behind-the-enemy-lines operations in the
last few weeks before their colonial territory of Malaya fell into Japanese hands, the
MPAIJA was allowed by Lai Tek to develop into a major resistance movement. As the
fortunes of war changed, Lai Tek knew that the Japanese would be defeated and he
kept the MPAJA intact to assist the returning British army.

Given Lai Tek's prewar collaboration with the British and his wartime role as a
Kempeitai agent, he did not set much store by many of the party's policies adopted in
1939, 1940, and even in 1943, wherein the party had declared its ultimate goal was
"the Malayan Democratic Republic" (see document Nan daozhi chun). In fact, when
the war ended, Lai Tek had the party issue a statement that it would collaborate with
the British and that its ultimate goal would have to be shelved further. The goal of a
"Malayan Democratic Republic" had lost most of its revolutionary advocates in the
purges and raids which Lai Tek had masterminded with the assistance of the
Kempeitai. When Malaya returned to British rule, he resumed his collaborationist
role once more with the British authorities until he was unmasked in 1947. However,
Lai Tek fled into hiding before the party could take any action against him. He is be-

5McLane, Soviet Strategies, p. 243.

106por a fuuer account of Lai Tek's role as a Kempeitai agent, see Cheah Boon Kheng, Red Star
Over Malaya.
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lieved to have gone to Hong Kong, with most of the party's funds, and then to
Thailand, where a MCP killer squad finally tracked him down and killed him.'”” His
death, however, has never been officially confirmed. The new leader of the MCP was
Chin Peng, who stood for a revolutionary line. In June 1948, the party launched an
unsuccessful armed rebellion against the British. The party's leaders and guerrillas
eventually retreated to the jungle fastnesses at the Thai-Malaysianborder where they
remained until the party called off its armed struggle on November 30,1989.

CONCLUSION

This documentary history of the MCP from the 1920s to 1945 illustrates its mixed
parentage—Indonesian, Chinese, Comintern, and Vietnamese. Consequently, the
MCP tended to take on an "international" rather than a "national" character. In
membership, the MCP, which was predominantly Chinese, was also not representa-
tive of Malaya's multiracial society. After several unsuccessful Indonesian and
Comintern efforts to cultivatea more "national" character by involving Malays and
Indians, the MCP adopted an "opportunistic" line by drifting with the tide of
Overseas Chinese nationalism as the easiest way to obtain mass support. Its policies
in the late 1930s and 1940s regarded the "Overseas Chinese" (and not the "Malayan
Chinese") as the leading force of its strategies. The MCP had become a paradox—an
Overseas Chinese party oriented toward China and the CCP but trying to lead a
Communist revolution in the multiracial society of Malaya. This probably explains
why the activities of the Indonesian Communist agents had petered out and were
heard of no more during the period 1937-1941, after their attempts to form a
Communist Party of the Malays had also failed. Not even the intervention of the
Japanese occupation arrested the MCP's outward Chinese orientation. It was wors-
ened by the fact that the MCP's organizational network had been virtually shattered
by the collaborative role of its leader, Lai Tek, as a police agent, who was not un-
masked until 1947. After the war, the party had to rebuild itself and did seriously
make attempts to recruit Malays and Indians. But the "Malayanization" of the party
did not become a priority until 1946, and the process was not even completed when it
began its armed rebellion in 1948.'®

""This was confirmed by the MCPs Malay Central Committee members Rasyid Mahidin and
Abdullah C.D. at a press conferenceafter the party had announced an end to its armed strug-
gle. The New Straits Times (Kuala Lumpur), December 9,1989.

gle. The New Straits Times (Kuala Lumpur), December 9,1989.
Comrades.



BIBLIOGRAPHY

Anderson, BR.CXG., Java in a Time of Revolution. Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 1972.
Brimmell, J. H. A Short History of the Malayan Communist Party. Singapore: Donald Moore, 1956.
8212, Communism in Southeast Asia. London: Oxford University Press, 1959.

Cheah Boon Kheng. The Masked Comrades: A Study of the Communist United Front in Malaya,
1945-1948. Singapore: Times Books International, 1979.

8212 'The Japanese Occupation of Malaya: Ibrahim Yaacob and the Struggle for Indonesia
Raya." Indonesia 28 (October 1979): 85-120.

8212. Red Star Over Malaya: Resistance and Social Conflict During and After the Japanese
Occupation, 1941-1946. Singapore: Singapore University Press, 1983.

Chihiro Tsutsui. Nampo gunsei-ron.(Military administration in the southern regions). Tokyo,
1944.

Cobb, Richard. The Police and the People: French Popular Protest, 1789-1820. Oxford: Clarendon,
1970.

Cruickshank, Charles, SOF in the Far East. London: Oxford University Press, 1983.

Duncanson, Dennis J., "Ho-chi-minh in Hong Kong, 1931-32." The China Quarterly, 57 (January-
March 1974): 84-100.

Haithcox, John Patrick. Communismand Nationalism in India: M. N. Roy and Comintern Policy,
1920-1939. Princeton, N.J.: Princeton University Press, 1971.

Hanrahan, Gene Z. The Communist Struggle in Malaya. New York: Institute of Pacific Relations,
1954. Reprint, Kuala Lumpur: University of Malaya Press, 1971

Ibrahim Yaacob.Malaya Merdeka. Jakarta: Kesatuan Malaya Merdeka, 1957.

Jarvis, Helen, ed. From Jail to Jail by Tan Malaka. 3 vols. Athens, Ohio: Ohio University Center
for International Studies, 1991.

Jonesl,9¢01un. "Internal Security in British Malaya, 1895-1942." Ph.D. diss., Yale University,

Kahin, George McT. Nationalism and Revolutionin Indonesia. Ithaca, N.Y.: Cornell University
Press, 1952.

Khoo Kay Kim. 'The Beginnings of Political Extremism in Malaya, 1915-1935." Ph.D. diss.,
University of Malaya, 1973.

Lacouture, Jean, Ho ChiMinh. London: Allen Lane, 1968.

Leong, Stephen. "Sources, Agencies and Manifestations of Overseas Chinese Nationalism in
Malaya, 1937-1941." Ph.D. diss., University of California, Berkeley, 1976.

8212 'The Kuomintang-Communist United Front in Malaya during the National Salvation
Period, 1937-1941." Journal of Southeast Asian Studies. 8, (1) (March 1977): 31-47.

Leong Yee Fong, "Chinese Politics and Political Parties in Colonial Malaya, 1920-1940." M.A.
thesis, Universiti Sains Malaysia, 1977.

Mahmud Embong. "Pertumbuhan dan Perkembangan Gerakan Komunis di Malaya, 1920-
1948." M. A. thesis, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, 1985.



42 From PKI to the Comintern, 1924-1941

Malaysian Government White Paper. Communism in Malaysia and Singapore. Kuala Lumpur:
Government Printer, 1971.

Mao Tse-tung. Selected Works of Mao Tse-tung. New York: International Publishers, 1954.

McLane, Charles B. Soviet Strategies in Southeast Asia. Princeton, N.J.: Princeton University
Press, 1966.

McVey, Ruth T. The Rise of Indonesian Communism. Ithaca, N.Y.: Cornell University Press, 1965.
Meisner, Maurice. Li Ta-chao and the Origins of Chinese Marxism. New York: Atheneum, 1977.
Miller, Harry. Menace in Malaya. London: Harrap, 1954.

Mintz, Jeanne S. "Marxism in Indonesia." In Marxism in Southeast Asia, ed. Frank N. Trager.
Stanford, Calif.: Stanford University Press, 1959.

North, Robert C, and XeniaJ. Eudin, eds. M. N. Roy's Mission to China: The Communist-
Kuomintang Split of 1927. Berkeley: University of California Press, 1963.

O'Ballance, Edgar. Malaya: The Communist Insurgent War, 1948-60. London, Faber, 1966.
Onraet, Rene H. Singapore: A Police Background. London: Dorothy Crisp, 1946.

Parmer, N. "Attempts at Labour Organization by Chinese Workers in Certain Industries in
Singapore in the 1930's." In Papers on Malayan History, ed. K. G. Tregonning. Singapore:
Journal of South-East Asian History, 1962.

8212. "Chinese Estate Workers' Strikes in Malaya in March 1937." In The Economic
Development of Southeast Asia, ed. C. D. Cowan, London: Praeger, 1964.

Purcell, Victor. The Chinese in Southeast Asia. London: Oxford University Press, 1951.
Roff, W.R., The Origins of Malay Nationalism. Kuala Lumpur: University of Malaya Press, 1967.
8212 ‘Indonesian and Malay Students in Cairo in the 1920s." Indonesia 9 (April 1970): 73-88.

Short, Anthony, "Communism and the Emergency." In Malaysia, ed. Wang Gungwu. New
York: Praeger, 1964.

8212. The Communist Insurrection in Malaya, 1948-1960. London: Frederick Mueller, 1975.
Stenson, M. R. Industrial Conflict in Malaya. Kuala Lumpur: Oxford University Press, 1970.

Thompson, Virginia and Richard Adloff. The Lefiwing in Southeast Asia. New York: William
Sloane, 1950.

Van der Kroef, Justus M., Communism in South-east Asia. London: Macmillan, 1981.
Williams, Michael. "Sneevliet and the Birth of Asian Communism." In New Left Review, 123
(September-October 1980): 82-90.

Wu Tien-wang, "The Communist Party of Malaya, 1947." Report presented to the British
Empire Conference of Communist Parties, London, 1947. Marx Memorial Library,
London.

Yap Hong Kuan. "Perak under the Japanese, 1942-1945." B.A. thesis, University of Singapore,
1957.

Yeo Kim Wah. "The Communist Involvement in the Malayan Labour Strikes, September 1936
March 1937." In Journal of the Malaysian Branch of the Royal Asiatic Society, 49 (December
1976): pt. 2, 34-79.



PART!

SELECTED DOCUMENTSFROM VARIOUS ISSUES OF THE MALAYAN BULLETIN OF
POLITICAL INTELLIGENCE (MBPI) AND ITS SUCCESSOR MALAYA POLITICAL
INTELLIGENCE JOURNAL, MALAYAN POLICE ADMINISTRATION, 1922-1931,
FOUND IN THE BRITISH COLONIAL OFFICE RECORDS, LONDON, AND OTHER
INTELLIGENCE SOURCES, INCLUDING US DIPLOMATIC DESPATCHES

INTRODUCTION

The idea of setting up a Malayan Bureau of Political Intelligence to keep the govern-
ment informed of political agitation was first raised in October 1921 during the ad-
ministration of British High Commissioner to the Malay States and Governor of the
Straits Settlements, Laurence Guillemard. One year later, A. S. Jelf, of the Malayan
Civil Service, was appointed its first director. He toured the country and requested
information from government officials, including district officers. He established liai-
son with the military and the Police Criminal Department and direct communications
with security departments in London, India, and Hong Kong, as well as with British
consulates in Bangkokand Batavia.

Owing to limited funds, the MBPI could not afford its own special staff of paid
informers on the scale of similar departments in the police and the Chinese
Protectorate; detailed informationon local political affairs was, therefore, submitted
to the MBPI by the other two agencies. Despite its limited size throughout the eight
years of its existence, according to one study, the MBPI "gained the esteem of those
concerned with intelligence affairs on the imperial as well as the local level/"'

However, in 1930, Guillemard's successor, Hugh Clifford, abolished the Bureau
which was regarded as "of little value" and in its place set up a Political Advisory
Committee for Malaya, comprising representatives of Police, the military, and
Chinese Affairs officials. In 1932 the committee concentrated almost entirely on
Communist activity and left other political matters to other agencies. Before long, this
body was regarded as cumbersome, and political intelligence was passed on to a unit
within the Police Department under the Director of Criminal Investigation, known as
the Special Branch. This officer was Rene Onraet, who later rose to become Inspector
General of Police, Straits Settlements. In the Special Branch, Onraet was assisted by
Chief Inspector Metha Prithvi Chand, an Indian, who was seconded from the Indian

‘Alun Jones, "Internal Security in British Malaya, 1895-1942" (PhD diss., Yale University,
1970), p. 140.
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Government. One of his duties originallgr was to keep in touch with subversive
Indian agitators among Indians in Malaya.

A Criminal Intelligence Department (CID) was established in 1918 in Singapore
for the Straits Settlements (Singapore, Malacca, and Penang), which paid attention
mainly to political affairs. A Criminal Intelligence Branch (CIB) was established in the
Federated Malay States (comprising Negri Sembilan, Selangor, Pahang, and Perak) in
April 1920; each police department in these states and in the Unfederated Malay
States (Johor, Perlis, Kedah, Kelantan, and Trengganu] had its own detective branch
that handled both criminal and political investigations. Close cooperation between all
police forces was maintained. The director of the CIB prepared a monthly political
report for the government.

Owing to the specialized work of the CID in Singapore, its name was changed to
Special Branch in 1933. Special Branch also established and sustained contacts with
the Dutch authorities in the Netherlands East Indies, American intelligence in the
Philippines, and the French authorities in Indochina and exchanged information with
them from time to time. It also had contacts with British intelligence bureaus in the
Far East, especially those in Hong Kong, Burma, and India. In the early 1930s, the
Special Branch was organized into five separate coordinated sections, each specializ-
ing in a particular sphere of activity: the Anti-Communist, Japanese, Security,
Political, and Aliens sections. The largest and possibly the most important was the
Anti-Communist section, which assumed a prominent role in response to increasing
Communist activity in British Malaya. In 1940-1941, with the outbreak of war immi-
nent, the Malayan Security Service was created, probably to coordinate all intelli-
gence activities. It resumed its work after the Japanese occupation and continued
until it was abolished shortly after the Emergency was declared in 1948

The Malayan Bulletin of Political Intelligence (MBPI), which was published by
the Malayan Bureau of Political Intelligence, ceased publication in 1930 when the
Bureau was abolished. Not all copies of the MBPI are found in the Colonial Office
files at the Public Record Office in London. MBPI issues for 1923,1924, and for eleven
issues of 1925 (January-November) are not available. No explanation has been found
for this omission. The MBPI was brought out each month. From 1922 to 1924 the
MBPI and the Singapore Special Branch Political Intelligence Journal (P1J) were
printed by the regimental printer of the British Army's Middlesex Regiment, then
based in Singapore, but from 1924 the printing was taken over by the Confidential
Printer to the Government until the Government Printing Office was created in 1931.
Printing was left in the hands of Europeans apparently because the authorities felt
that "no Asian subordinates could be trusted to print confidential papers of this
kind."* Researchers have seen frequent references made to the PIJ in official
correspondence on the MCP, but only extracts of this publication have been found in
the Colonial Office files. Its distribution was kept very restricted.

AFor further details, see Governor's Despatches (hereafter cited as G.D.) Secret 224/1921,
261/1922, 64/23 and 312/1929, National Archives, Singapore. I am grateful to Dr Yeo Kim
Wah of the History Department, National University of Singapore for providing the above
information.

"The details about the evolution of the political intelligence organizations were obtained from
Jones, "Internal Security," pp. 114-19,138-41.

*Ibid., p.143.
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The distribution list of MBPI shows that half the recipients were resident in
Malaya, while the other half were outside Malaya. The Malayan recipients were top
British government officials and political authorities like the British State Residents.
This list is useful in identifying possible holding centers of MBPI outside Malaya.
MBPI's contents have an almost predictable format under the following sub-heads:
(1) Affairs in China; (2) Affairs in the NEI; (3) Affairs in the Hejaz; (4) Affairs in
Malaya; (5) Kuo Min Tang in Malaya; (6) Affairs in Indochina; (7) The Communist
Centre [NEI] in Singapore; (8) Soviet political activity in the Far East, or Bolshevism;
(9) Affairs in India; (10) Pan Pacific Labour Congress (China); and (11) Communist
emissaries for the East.

The CO files at the PRO, however, do contain another valuable intelligence
source for the study of Communist and Chinese activities in the 1920s and 1930s. This
is the Malayan Review of Chinese Affairs (MRCA), a publication of the Chinese
Secretariat. According to Dr. Leong Yee Fong, who has used this source, it has a
useful collection of materials on the Kuomintang in Malaya and the MCP, including
party documents recovered by the police, translations of censored mail, as well as
extracts of editorials from Chinese newspapers and other miscellaneous matters
concerning local Chinese affairs.” Items on the MCP sometimes duplicate those in
the MBPI, but there are instances where the MRCA source is richer than the other. On
the other hand, the MBPI gives a better overall picture of the political situation in
Malaya and the Southeast Asian region.

The political intelligence reports are usually based on information collected by
informers and spies or obtained during police interrogations of Communists and
other political activists, as well as documents picked up during police raids; informa-
tion obtained from foreign intelligence agencies, such as those in the Netherlands
Indies, was also coordinated. Compilation and analysis was usually done by
"political analysts" who often are nameless, although in one document, the Special
Branch Report for 1934 (in Pt. 2), the name of an analyst, a "Mr Barry," is given;
another report (in Pt. 1) carries the name of R. Onraet, director, CID, Straits
Settlements. Not much is known about the workings of the "political analysts" sec-
tion; but it is clear that their work was tremendously important in assisting the politi-
cal authorities to make decisions.

Only certain reports for the period 1921-1941 pertaining to the MCP that are con-
sidered relevant to the present study have been included in this section. Besides
MBPI reports, extracts from official correspondence and US diplomatic despatches
relating to Communist activities in Southeast Asia have also been included. All the
footnotes in Pt.1 are mine. [Ed.]

>See Leong Yee Fong, "Chinese Politics and Political Parties in Colonial Malaya, 1920-1940,"
(MA thesis, Universiti Sains Malaysia, 1977), pp. ix-X.
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MALAYAN BULLETIN OF POLITICAL INTELLIGENCE (MBPI)

I.LMBPI, MAY 1922 6

Bolshevism

There is no trace of any activity in Malaya other than Chinese literature, censored
and dealt with by the Protectorates in the Federated Malay States and Straits
Settlements, The influence of the agitation in the Netherlands East Indies does not
seem to have spread to the F.M.S,; representatives visiting Malaya appear to get no
further than Singapore and are not reported as being very successful in that seaport.

2. MBPI, AUGUST 1922 7

Bolshevism

(a) Chinese Bolshevist literature has recently been sent from Canton to the
Headmaster of the Chinese High School in Singapore, and to the head "bar-boy" (a
Hylam) of the Grosvenor Hotel, Singapore.

(b) N. Mohammad Dulfakir, bookseller of 14-1 High Street, Singapore, has been
discovered to be exposing for sale a book by Lenin ("Will the Bolsheviks maintain
power?"), and to have an order (from London and San Francisco) for a number of
politically and otherwise objectionable books and periodicals. These he states find a
ready sale amongst English-speaking Chinese.

(c) The well-known Indian agitator, M. N. Roy,8 who is in Berlin, is known to
have despatched a number of Communist Agents to India, and as it is possible that
some of Roy's numerous activities may extend to Malaya, the following note may be
of interest.

So far as can be ascertained, some 30 young Indians have undergone a course of
training in Communism at Moscow University. It is difficult to arrive at the exact
number of those who have left Moscow and have succeeded in entering India. Roy
himself appears to be in some doubt about the matter, and the probability is that after
their departure from Moscow he has more or less lost touch with them. He is be-
lieved to have estimated that he had about a dozen adherents working for him in
India, with 16 more to follow.

6 Source: CO 273/516. Public Record Office, London.
7 Source: CO 273/517. Public Record Office, London.

8Narendra Nath Bhattacharya, later to be known as Manabendra Nath Roy, was born of
Brahmin parentage in the Bengali village of Arbali, some twenty miles from Calcutta. The
exact date of his birth is unknown. Estimates range from 1886 to 1893. Roy first emerged in
prominence in Mexico and attended the 1920 Second World Congress of the Communist
International held in Moscow in July 1920as an official representative of the Communist Part
of Mexico. Throughoutthe 1920s, Roy made strenuous efforts to organize a Communist
movement in India. In April 1922, his center of activities was transferred from Moscow to
Berlin. He is generally regarded as the founder of the Communist Party of India. See Haithcox
Communism and Nationalism in India, pp. 4,11, 20, and 24. See also Robert C. Northand Xenia J.
Eudin, eds., M. N. Roy's Mission to China: The Communist-Kuomintang Split of 1927 (Berkeley:
University of California Press, 1963), p. 4.
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3. MBPI, OCTOBER 19229

(a) Malaya in 1922

The following is an attempt to appreciate the Political situation in British Malaya
as it is thought to be today. It is based on impressions formed during a service of
extended tours throughout the country, in the course of which all the Settlements of
the colony, and all the Malay States, whether Federated or Unfederated, have been
visited, and opinions sought from District Officers, Police Officers, Chinese Protec-
torates and officials of every kind, as well as from unofficials of all nationalities.

Generally speaking, it would probably be true to say there is little or no active
sedition in Malaya of the sort that is so prevalent in India or the Dutch East Indies.
The firmer measures which have recently been taken in India have had their reflec-
tion among Indians here, and the action by the local C.LD. in seizing seditious litera-
ture, and in two instances, a personal interview between delinquents and responsible
authorities, are believed to have had a good effect on the Indian community. The
Chinese are deeply interested in the progress of events in their own country, and are
"waiting to see which way the cat is going to jump" in China before making any
move towards the development, in Malaya, of their growing Nationalist ideas, and
the Malays are, on the whole, rather indifferent to happenings in the Muhammadan
world. But, more than anything else, the prolonged financial depression, which has
perhaps hit Malaya harder than most countries, is keeping all classes so fully occu-
pied in seeking and keeping a precarious living that they have not the time nor the
inclination to indulge in political agitations. This same depression, of course, makes it
difficult for agitators to find funds for their own emoluments, or for propaganda.

(b) Bolshevism

With reference to [the] note in the Bulletinfor August, 1922, it is stated that M. N.
Roy is feeling the want of reliable agents in India, and he has asked the communist
organisation in Great Britain whether they can supply him with two suitable men,
one for Bombay and one for Calcutta. He offers passage money and pay at $10or $15
per month for two months, after which they will have to be prepared to maintain
themselves, as his finances will not permit of further assistance.

The work of these men will be to arrange for the reception and distribution of
"merchandise," which presumably means Bolshevik literature. It is, of course, not
improbable that the Calcutta agent may turn his attention to Malaya and the Dutch
East Indies.

4. MBPI, NOVEMBER 1922

Communist Emissaries for the East

The well-known Javanese Communist, RADEN DARSONO,11 who was impris-
oned in Java for taking part in an attempted rising there in 1918, and eventually left

2 Source: CO 273/518. Public Record Office, London.
19 Source: CO 273/518. Public Record Office, London.

"Of Javanese aristocratic background, Darsono had dropped in on Sneevliet's trial in 1917 and
been converted on the spot to revolutionary socialism. He was one of Sneevliet's closest co-
workers during that leader's last year in the Indies. Darsono was one of the few Indonesian
Communist leaders to study Marxism seriously. It was said he frequently had trouble
adjusting his Western Communist ideas to Eastern conditions. He was a great admirer of the
Bolshevik Revolution, which he enthusiastically urged his fellow Indonesians to emulate; this
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for the north of China in June, 1921, is now reported to be in Berlin with the Dutch
Revolutionary and Communist, H.I.J.M. SNEEVLIET," who passed through
Singapore for Holland in May, 1922 (a long conversation between the Director of the
Bureau and Sneevliet was reported to the Government). Sneevliet wishes to take
Darsono to Moscow, and it is very possible that the rabid native Communist and
Sarikat Islam leader, Malaka, for whom Sneevliet has the greatest admiration, may
join them. All three will then proceed to Moscow, and then via North China to
Canton. Sneevliet, it is believed, will stay in Canton (at which city he was during the
great Hongkong strike of March, 1922) while the other two will attempt to re-enter
Java. There is strong reason to believe that this report, which comes from a Dutch
source, 1s correct.

5. MBPI, DECEMBER 1922 °

Communist Doctrines in Malaya—Chinese

The manifesto of the "Congress of the labouring masses of the Far East," abusing
"European, American, and Japanese buccaneers," ended with the Manifesto of the
Communist International, Korean, and Dutch East Indian Delegations.

There has now been discovered at Singapore, in the post, a bundle of ten copies
of the "Pioneer" sent apparently from "Phang Chap Mui, society of Tioneer/ c/o
Min Kuo Jit Pau, Shanghai." The sender asked the Singapore addressee to distribute
these copies to "other school colleagues." The publication comprises a "Manifesto
issued by the First Convention of the Communist and Racial Revolutionary
Organisations of the various countries of the Far East."

6. MBPI, DECEMBER 1925 '

Strikes in Malaya

The phenomenal rise in the price of rubber and the strength of the tin market
have resulted in a demand for labour which cannot be met in full.

As a result, the wages of workers in these two industries have increased, and the
workers in other trades, have demanded a sympathetic increase owing to the general
prosperity of the country, as well as to an all-round increase of 15 per cent in the cost
of living.

Increase in wages, varying between 30 percent and 50 percent, have been re-
ceived by the tailors in Kuala Lumpur, Ipoh and Singapore.

The shoemakers in Kuala Lumpur received an increase in wages averaging 50
percent and the goldsmiths an increase of 20 percent in addition to free food.

led, in December 1918, to his arrest and one year's imprisonment. He was the first vice-
chairman of the PKI. McVey, Rise of Indonesian Communism, pp. 36,51.

AHendricus Josephus Franciscus Marie Sneevliet, who first gained prominence in Indonesia as
a young Dutch labor leader. A gifted and ardent propagandist, he was one of the founders of
the Marxist-oriented Indies Social Democratic Association (ISDV), the precursorof the PKI, in
1914. He was expelled from Indonesia by the Dutch authorities in 1919 for antigovernment
activities, and in 1920 emerged as an official of the Communist International. He became
known by his Comintern alias, Maring. Ibid., p.13.

13 Source:: CO273/518. Public Record Office, London.

14 Source: CO 273/534. Public Record Office, London. It should be noted that MBPI reports for
1923,1924, and for January-November 1925 have not be sighted in the CO files at the PRO.No
official explanation has yet been available to explain this omission.
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Fitters in various engineering concerns, both European and Chinese, have re-
ceived increases of between 10 percent and 20 percent. In every case, except that of
the fitters, employers have been forced to grant the increases demanded owing to an
actual strike of employees, whilstin the case of the fitters the threat of a strike was
sufficient.

Although there has been no trace of direct Communist instigation of the strikes
hitherto, there is no doubt that labour in Malaya is beginning to realise the value of
unity and the power of direct action, and the advice of persons with Communist
leanings is being listened to in many instances.

7. MBPI, FEBRUARY 1926 15

N.E.I. Communists in Singapore

It is now known that the Javanese Communists Moeso [sic],16 Winanta [sic],17
Boedisoejitro [sic],18 and Soebakat [sic]19 are in Singapore

Tan Malaka himself was undoubtedly in Penang during the early part of January,
until the 14th of that month, and is said to have been seen there in the company of
Hasonoesi.?’ An intercepted letter however, points to Tan Malaka having returned to
Cheng Mai by the 20thJanuary.

The local Communists have become suspicious of Abdul Ghaffar and the safety
of 840Onan Road as a postal address and would appear to have changed the latter to
709 North Bridge road, a house rented by Sheih Abdullah Dahlan, a local Arab
suspect, the ex-Sheikh-ul-Islam of Kedah.

Letters for Communists are to be addressed to Tuan Moechtar and the missives
enclosed in an outer envelope addressed to Haji Safie bin Haji Salleh at 709 North
Bridge Road.

Haji Safie is a pilgrim broker by trade, in conjunction with his father, and rents a
portion of the above premises.

15 Source: CO 273/534. Public Record Office, London.

~Also spelled "Musso." Born in 1897, he attended high school and teacher-training school in
Batavia. There he was a friend of Alimin. He was cultivated by Dutch educator D. van
Hinloopen Laberton. Like Alimin, he lived for a time at the Tjokroaminotoboarding house in
Surabaya and divided his loyalties between several political organizations—in his case,
Insulinde, Sarekat Islam, and the ISDV—before makinga firm commitmentto the PKI. McVey,
Rise of Indonesian Communism, pp. 169-70.

' A. Winanta, a former minor official of the Netherlands East Indies railway line and a leader
of the Communist movement in Bandung, who was elected chairman of the PKI at its
convention of June 7-10,1924. He belonged to a group of PKI leaders who advocated revolt in
1926. Ibid., pp. 192,315-16.

~He and other PKlleaders were arrested by the Dutch authorities in October 1924 but were
released a few months later. He, Alimin, and Tan Malaka attended the Pan-Pacific Transport
Workers' Conference held under Comintern auspices at Canton in June 1924 as the PKI's
representatives. See George McT. Kahin, Nationalism and Revolution in Indonesia (Ithaca, N.Y.:
Cornell University Press, 1952), p. 77and McVey, Rise of Indonesian Communism, pp. 216,431.

ADescribed as one of the PKI's chief theoreticians, Soebakat was a member of the party's
executive committee in 1923. McVey, Rise of Indonesian Communism, pp. 155,191.

20A Javanese Communist believed to be identical with R. S. Hassan Sanoesi, a committee
member of the Union of Sailors and Dockers of Java and a close associate of Tan Malaka. See
document "Malay and Indonesian Communists" in pt. 5.
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Haji Salleh Surati, the father of Haji Safie, hails from Semarang and is suspected
of having sheltered Raden Samoen [sic]’" at his house early in 1922.

8. MBPI, APRIL 1926 22

Boedisoejitro in Singapore

Both Boedisoejitro and Sutan Perpateh® were observed in Penang during the
middle of May and were met with again in Singapore towards the end of the same
month. Perpateh whilstin Singapore was known to have resided at 131 Arab Street, a
pilgrim brokers' establishment and to have frequented 144 Arab Street, a Malay cap
shop managed by Haji Ali and Haji Samoen. Soebakat was also observed in
Singapore on the 9th May.

It is reported on good authority that a Malay newspaper is to be started in the
Colony which will be financed by N.E.I, communists.

Perpateh in converse with a friend stated that he had recently opened a club in
Province Wellesley the members of which were mainly Javanese from Sumatra.

Enquiries were made in April, on behalf of Boedisoejitro, for suitable premises in
the Kallang district of Singapore adjacent to the sea to be used as a club.

Omar bin Haji Samad of Sumbawa Road, who is concerned in a Javanese Labour
Depot situated at Kallang was one of the individuals approached.

On the 29th May, Haji Jaafar, a great friend of Haji Ghafar's, at a private meeting
held at 82 Onan Road, the house of Saiyid Mahdar broached the subject of the forma-
tion of a club consisting of some 500 members for the purpose of mutual assistance;
the subscriptions to be nominal as he knows of persons who would finance the
undertaking.

9. MBPI, OCTOBER 1926*

Tan Malaka on Communism in Malaya, 1925

From papers found on Communists arrested in Sumatra it appears that Tan
Malaka has composed, while residing abroad, and sent out, apparently from Saigon,
three books embodying advice and guidance from Moscow to those engaged in the
"struggle for the people.”

The booklets are entitled:

1. Wasiat Kaoem Militair, (Military Guidance)
2. Naar de Republiek Indonesia, (Towards the Indonesia Republic)
3. Semangat Moeda, (The Modern Spirit)

2Spelled "Semaun" by Ruth McVey. He was one of the most prominent figures among the
early group of Indonesian Marxists. Born in 1899 near Surabaya, the son of a minor railroad
official and himself a railroad employee, he gained notoriety as one of Indonesia's first labor
agitators. It also brought him into contact with Sneevliet, whom he admired greatly, and in
1915 he joined the ISDV. Semaun was very young when he rose to prominence in the revolu-
tionary movement. In 1916 he was seventeenyears old. He attended the First Congress of the
Toilers of the Far East in Russia as the PKFs representative in 1922. McVey, Rise of Indonesian
Communism, pp. 22,51, and 213.

22 Source: CO 273/534. Public Record Office, London.
Aldentity of this person is not known.
24 Source: CO 273/535. Public Record Office, London.
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and have not been published generally but sent by Tan Malaka to Communist lead-
ers in person.

An old letter written by Tan Malaka from Singapore dated the 6th November,
1925, and addressed apparently to Boedisoejitrohas just been discovered inJava.

A portion of the letter is interesting as a comment on the unpromising nature of
British Malayaas a field for communist propaganda.

So far not the slightest advantage is to be seen from the work of our dealers
(propagandists?) at (Singapore) or at (Penang). You may say that they are quite
incapable, but in criticising it must not be forgotten that the proper (indigenous?)
inhabitants there, who form only a minority, are all conservative in their manner
of living and thinking, and are petty bourgeois. On the departure of Hadji
Moek® from (Singapore) his kindness was invoked to make a visit to the FM.S.
The impressions which he obtained everywhere did not differ from those gained
from (Singapore) and (Penang). The Section of the people which understands
(economy) and (politics) are the (Chinese). In the harbours, in buildings in the
trains, and above all in commerce, the (Chinese) are the most prominent. None
the less their Federation is very weak. You will understand that in these circum-
stances it is impossible for us to effect a union. The railway personnel and those
in establishments connected with the railway are all Klings. In their circles no
beginning has been made to set up any association. There is not a single daily
paper in the Straits or F.M.S. that is read by Malays®. In brief, if one looks for a
movement in the FM.S,, it is not to be sought from the side of the Malays. It will
certainly come from the Chinese and Klings, whatever sort of movement it may
be. I give you this explanation to enable you to form an opinion of us.*’

Note: Words in brackets have been decoded from the cypher used in the original
letter.

10. MBPI, FEBRUARY—APRIL 1927%

Arrest and Release of Alimin®® and Moeso

Alimin and Moeso who have several times been mentioned in the Bulletin as
leaders of the Communist party in the N.E.I, were arrested in Singapore in December

Adentity of this person is not known.

*°This statement is not entirely accurate. Malay newspapers like Utusan Melayu, 1907-1921,
and Lembaga Melayu, 1914-1931, were published in Singapore. See P. Lim Pui Huen,
Newspapers Published in the Malaysian Area (Singapore: Institute of Southeast Asian Studies,
1970.)

" An identical copy of this letter is also reproduced in the 1948 Malayan Security Service doc-
ument, "Malay and Indonesian Communists" (see pt.5).

28 Source: CO 273/535/28030. Public Record Office, London.

*Mas Alimin Prawirodirjo was born in 1889 in Surakarta. He was the foster son of G.AlJ.
Hazeu (later Adviser for Native Affairs) and so was able to obtain a good education. He
attended European schools in Batavia and became fluent in French, English, and Dutch. He
began the newspaper, Djawa Moeda (Younglava) and entered the Budi Utomo. Later he joined
Insulinde, became interested in labor affairs, and was active in organizing printers, seamen,
and dockworkers of Batavia. He then joined ISDV, the Sarekat Islam, and finally the PKI. He
was among the PKI leaders who supported the 1926-1927 uprisings. McVey, Rise of Indonesian
Communism, pp.168-69.
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last, and after a searching banishment enquiry were released and almost immediately
left for Canton.

The enquiry revealed the fact that though these two men, and through them the
revolutionary party in the N.E.L, are directly connected with Moscow, no real suspi-
cion showing activities against Malaya were substantiated, in consequence they were
released.

Dutch opinion, while appreciating the Straits Settlements Government action in
this matter, consider that the presence of men of this type in Malaya, though ostensi-
bly working against the Dutch, constitutes a grave danger to the masses of the coun-
try in which they take refuge.
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DOCUMENTS FROM OTHER INTELLIGENCE SOURCES

11. EXTRACT FROM DESPATCHOF U.S. CONSULIN SINGAPORE TO
THE STATE DEPARTMENT, DATED SEPTEMBER 1,1927.%

Subversive Activities of Tan Malaka

There have been no subversive activities in Malaya of special application to the
British Government of this particular area, but the local authorities either actually
know or suspect various attempts to arouse interest here. Confidential despatches
Nos. 94 and 144 of January 31st, and March 30th, 1927, respectively, from this office,
suggested the relation of Singapore to activities by Javanese communists which
involved the possible use of Manila, Philippine Islands, as a base for the direction of
subversive activities in the Dutch East Indies. The alleged ringleader is an ubiquitous
Javanese known as Tan Malaka. This individual was recently reported (in Manila
newspapers) as having been taken into custody by Philippine authorities and as hav-
ing been deported during the latter part of August, 1927 on a ship bound for Amoy.
Tan Malaka is believed by secret agents of the Straits Settlements Government to
have spent most of the last two years in the Philippines, but I have learned from a
reliable private source that he came to Singapore in April, 1927, and spent some
twenty-five days here endeavoring to arouse the Chinese of Singapore in connection
with the feeling arising out of the rioting and attack on the local Kreta Ayer police
station on March 12th, 1927. The police tried unsuccessfully to catch him. This Kreta
Ayer affair has been the subject of various despatches from this office of which the
last one was No. 162 of April 13th, 1927, entitled "Chinese Rioters Killed by
Singapore Police on March 12th, 1927—Coroner's Verdict."

12. A REPORT SHOWING THE CONNECTION BETWEEN
CHINESE AND NON-CHINESE CONCERNED IN COMMUNIST
ACTIVITIES INMALAYA (1 APRIL 1930)!

Lord Pasfield

Colonial Office.
Government House,
Singapore.
8 April, 1930.

My Lord,

I have the honour to forward for your information a copy of a letter and report
from the Director of Criminal Intelligence, Straits Settlements, on the subject of local
Chinese communist efforts to convert non-Chinese natives of Malaya to their beliefs.

2. Copies of the report are being sent to the Governor of Hong Kong and to His
Britannic Majesty's Minister at Peking.

C. Clementi
Governor.
Enclosure 1. Secret—S8th April 1930

39 Source: [846d.O0PR/13]. U.S. National Archives, Washington, D.C.
31 Source: C.0. 273/561/72074 (1930), Public Record Office, London.



54 From PKI to the Comintern, 1924-1941

Mr H. Fairburn,

Inspector-General of Police,

Straits Settlements, Singapore.
Office of Director of
Criminal Intelligence
Singapore.
1 April, 1930.

Sir,

I have the honour to submit for the information of the government a report on
that phase of local Chinese communist activities which concerns their efforts to con-
vert the non-Chinese natives in Malaya to their beliefs.

The efforts are now proved to be backed by the Pan-Pacific Trade Union
Secretariat, an anti-Imperialist body directed by the Third International, and one with
which the Nanyang General Labour Union is in communication through "Central" in
China.

The report is a coordinated record of information received at various times and
through many sources by the Special Branch, and can be substantiated by documents
and statements. Detailed corrobative information received in March this year enables
me to write up this report.

It is my opinion that the chief persons linking the Chinese and the non-Chinese
subversive activities in Singapore have been arrested.

I have not been able to discover how the Chinese and non-Chinese elements were
first introduced to each other.

R. ONRAET

Director,

Criminal Intelligence Department
Straits Settlements.

C.S.0. Correspondence No. Secret 12/1926 gives in detail the banishment
enquiry in the case of Alimin & Moeso, the two Javanese revolutionaries arrested in
Singapore at the end of 1926. At the present moment Moeso is reported to be in
Moscow and Alimin, till quite recently, was working as a sailor in the S.S. "Valaya"
which sails between Bangkokand Singapore. His present whereabouts are unknown.

2. At the time this banishment enquiry was held no proof was obtained that the
Javanese revolutionaries had made any effort to form or connect themselves with
subversive organizations in Malaya for the purpose of embarrassing the Government
of Malaya.

3. The connection between Alimin and Moeso on the one hand and Canton, in
1926, on the other gave us every reason to suspect that their stay in Malaya was not
exclusively connected with revolutionary activities against the Dutch in the
Netherlands East Indies. In support of this supposition was the fact that Tan Malaka
had put on record his opinion that Malaya was on account of the language difficulty,
a difficult country wherein to organise proletarian movements, and Alimin told me
in 1927 that it was impossible to lead the masses in Malaya on account of the different
nationalities it contained.

4. This difference in speech and the variety of customs of the various races in
Malaya is still a serious barrier against the spread of Communism, and is responsible
for the recent reorganisation of the local Communist Party whereby racial groups are
to be formed. It is through the Pan-Pacific Trade Union Secretariat comprising within
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its membership all Far Eastern revolutionary groups that teachers are to be supplied
to these racial groups in Malaya.

5. It is here necessary to mention that there existed at this time (1926), and still
exists in Malaya, a Chinese Communist Party directed by "Central/’ the China
Communist Party headquarters itself directed by the Third International. Among the
known leaders of the local Communist Party are the following whose names occur in
this note:

SOH PEKNGI, Cantonese Sentenced to three years R.I.,November, 1928.
MAH YAPPENG, Hailam, not arrested.

WONG JUAT PHO, Hailam, not arrested.

HO HONG SENG, Hokchiu, banished in 1928.

6. In 1926 Mah Yap Peng and Moeso were in communication with each other.
Moeso was known as the fat Javanese who had come from Canton and his photo-
graph has recently been identified by an important member of the party. In 1926 the
revolutionary Javanese groups detailed for work in Malaya, included Alimin, Moeso,
Soebakat (arrested in 1930 in Bangkok), Ali, Winantaand Abdul Karim.

7. The four Chinese mentioned above, together with Chinese not yet identified,
used to meet in 1928 and 1929 with three Malays named (1) Ali, (2) Ahmed and (3)
Abdul Rahman. Ali was the leader of the three and is the organizer of the Malay side
of the League Against Imperialism. Ho Hong Seng in 1928 identified Alimin's photo
as Ali, the reason for this was at once apparent after Ali's arrest: he is extraordinarily
like Alimin.

8. The League Against Imperialism has at various times and especially on occa-
sions when the local Chinese Communist Party has issued propaganda put out
propaganda in Romanized Malay and Jawi, the first occasion being on August the
3rd, 1928 and the last in March 1930. Ali was closely associated with Wong Juat Pho,
Mah Yap Peng and Soh Pek Ngi, and frequented the Hailam night schools at
Kampong Bahru—the Lok Man School, and at Coleman Street, the Lok Teng School.

9. During 1928-29 efforts by The Communist Party—still a purely Chinese
association predominantly Hailam—to connect up and recruit non-Chinese Malayan
races, continued. These efforts are summarized in Police Journal Paragraph 1 (a) of
1930 (attached).

10. In May/June 1929 Ali journeyed to Shanghai in company with Wong Juat
Pho, Mah Yap Peng, Salleh—a Malay from Malacca,and Haji Mohamed—a Padang
Malay religious teacher in Malacca—to attend the annual meeting of the Pan Pacific
Trade Union Secretariat (for particulars of P.P.T.U.S. c.f. M.B. November issue).

11. This Conference was originally to be held at Vladivostokbut on account of
passport difficulties, was divided into two sections—the Asiatic section meeting in
Shanghai and the European section, including Moeso who was at the time in Russia,
in Vladivostok. The Asiatic Section, which included the delegates from Malaya, was
interviewed several times by a Canadian, Harrison George, and a Frenchman whose
name cannot be vouched for, probably Elkre. The minutes of this conference have
been published in the "Pan-Pacific Monthly," the magazine issued by the P.P.T.U.S.
The aims of the Pan-Pacific Trade Union Secretariat are quite openly anti-capitalist
and subversive to all forms of colonial administration.

12. The Conference took place in July/August 1929 and a great deal of space was
devoted to Malaya in the subsequent reports. The Malayan delegates returned via
Hongkong and Bangkok to Malaya in September 1929. At Bangkok Wong Juat Pho
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left the party and the others took the train to Penang and a boat from Penang to
Singapore.

13.1t was towards the latter end of 1929that a series of pamphlets in Malay, pur-
porting to be issued by the Malay Seamen's Union, were printed and issued with the
help of the local Communist Party; a very large quantity ready for despatch was
seized at Tiverton Lane—a propaganda distributing office of the local Communist
Party on the 13th of March, 1930.

14.In March 1930 a draft notification in Tamil of the usual Red Labour type was
discovered and Ali is proved to be directly responsible.

15.1In January, February and March, 1930, Chinese Communist organizations in
Johore, Malacca, Seremban and Penang asked for propaganda printed in the Malay
language for distribution in their areas; but it was in the Batu Pahat and Muar areas
that the most serious advances were made. A number of names of persons connected
with the organisation of non-Chinese branches have been obtained and are at present
under investigation.

16.Information which connected previous informationand which identified cer-
tain people who were but names, has led to the arrest of:

AHMED BAIKI BIN SUILE—a Padang Malay,in Singapore.
ALI alias ALI MAJID—a Bugis in the s.s. "Van de Pura" in the harbourof

Singapore.

SALLEH BIN SAPI—a Malay, at Pengkalang Batak, Malacca.

JAMAL UD DIN—a Padang Malay, in Singapore.

EMAT alias ABDUL HAMID—a Javanesein Singapore.
HAJIMOHAMED BIN HASHIM—a Padang Malay, in Tampin, Malacca.

All except the last named admit their guilt. One more important person, Abdul
Rahman, whom it is suspected is Abdul Karim an associate of the Tan Malaka-Alimin
gang, is still at large and was last heard of in Penang.

17. Since the arrest of the above-named Javanese an